

Psychological interventions implementation manual

Integrating evidence-based psychological interventions into existing services





Psychological interventions implementation manual

Integrating evidence-based psychological interventions into existing services

Psychological interventions implementation manual: integrating evidence-based psychological interventions into existing services ISBN 978-92-4-008714-9 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-008715-6 (print version)

© World Health Organization 2024

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/).

Suggested citation. Psychological interventions implementation manual: integrating evidence-based psychological interventions into existing services. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2024. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at https://iris.who.int/.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see https://www.who.int/ publications/book-orders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see https://www.who.int/copyright.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Graphic design and layout. Café.art.br

Contents

1.3 Structure and overview

Preface	ix
Acknowledgements	х
Abbreviations	xii
1. Introduction	13
1.1 Background	14
1.2 Purpose and use	15

2. Planning	19
2.1 Establish the purpose of psychological intervention	22
2.2 Choose psychological interventions	23
2.3 Decide setting for delivery	28
2.4 Organize the system for delivery	32
2.5 Identify associated services	34
2.6 Identify human resource needs	35
2.7 Choose format for delivery	35

16

3. Adaptation	39
3.1 Prepare for adaptation	41
3.2 Adapt psychological interventions	44
4. Workforce	49
4.1 Choose the workforce	50
4.2 Train the workforce	53
4.3 Supervise the workforce	

5. Identification, assessment and delivery	61
5.1 Identify and reach potential beneficiaries	62
5.2 Assess people's needs	66
5.3 Refer people to the right source of support	67
5.4 Follow up after treatment	68

6. Monitoring and evaluation	71
6.1 Make an M&E plan	73
6.2 Collect and analyse data	77
6.3 Integrate findings	78
References	80
Further reading	83
Annexes	85
Annex 1. Checklist for implementing psychological interventions	86
Annex 2. Points to consider for remote delivery	87
Annex 3. Example adaptation monitoring form	90
Annex 4. Example supervision form	92
Annex 5. Example measures for screening and assessment	93
Annex 6. Example suicide risk form for non-specialists	94

Preface

In all countries, mental health conditions are highly prevalent and cause immense suffering. Most people who experience mental health conditions, including common conditions such as depression and anxiety, cannot access effective care and go untreated.

To reduce the vast care gap and progress towards universal health coverage, health and social care planners and practitioners increasingly deploy evidence-based psychological interventions to scale up options for care. The emphasis here is not conventional psychotherapy delivered by specialists but rather manualized psychological interventions that can be delivered by trained and supervised non-specialists and are more likely to be scalable. The number of psychological intervention manuals that are proven to work in low-, middleand high-income settings has grown rapidly in the last two decades. A next step is to increase their actual availability, reach and impact so that more people can benefit from them. Psychological intervention manuals give instructions on how to deliver the intervention but do not typically include guidance on how to design and deliver services that offer psychological interventions.

This implementation manual aims to fill that gap. It offers planners and service managers practical guidance on how to make available and implement psychological interventions by integrating them within existing health, social, protection or education services.



Dr Jérôme Salomon

Assistant Director-General Universal Health Coverage/Communicable and Noncommunicable Diseases World Health Organization

Acknowledgements

Leadership

The development of this manual was coordinated by Mark van Ommeren, under the direction of Dévora Kestel of the Department of Mental Health and Substance Use of the World Health Organization (WHO).

Writing and editorial team

Edith van 't Hof, Sian Lewis, Kenneth Carswell and Mark van Ommeren (WHO).

WHO contributors and reviewers (affiliations at time of contribution or review)

WHO headquarters staff and consultants: Teresa Au, Neerja Chowdhary, Meredith Fendt-Newlin, Alexandra Fleischman, Jennifer Hall, Aiysha Malik, Alison Schafer, Melissa Harper Shehadeh, James Underhill, Sarah Watts, and Inka Weissbecker.

WHO staff and consultants in regions and

countries: Andrea Bruni (Pan American Health Organization (PAHO)/WHO, Lima, Peru), Claudina Cayetano (PAHO/WHO Regional Office for the Americas, Washington DC, United States of America (USA)), Carmen Martinez (PAHO/ WHO Regional Office for the Americas, Panama City, Panama), Leticia Silvela (PAHO/WHO Regional Office for the Americas, Lima, Peru).

External contributors and reviewers (affiliations at time of contribution or review)

May Aoun (War Child Holland, Beirut, Lebanon), Hatem Alaa (Psycho-Social Services and Training Institute, Cairo, Egypt), Sarah Algom (Humanity & Inclusion, Lyon, France), Vania Alves (United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), New York, USA), Nancy Baron (Psycho-Social Services and Training Institute, Cairo, Egypt), Tarisai Bere (Harare, Zimbabwe), Claudi Bockting (University of Amsterdam, Netherlands (Kingdom of the), Paul Bolton (Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, USA), Adam Brown (New School University, New York, USA), Richard Bryant (University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia), Cristina Carreño (Médecins Sans Frontières, Barcelona, Spain), Dixon Chibanda (Friendship Bench Zimbabwe, Harare, Zimbabwe), Pim Cuijpers (Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Netherlands (Kingdom of the), Katie Dawson (University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia), Christopher Dowrick (University of Liverpool, Liverpool, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland), Liyam Eloul (The Center for Victims of Torture, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia), Michelle Engels (Médecins du Monde, Amman, Jordan), Sylvie Fagard Sultan (Médecins Sans Frontières, Brussels, Belgium), Carmel Gaillard (Regional Psychosocial Support Initiative, Johannesburg, South Africa), Brian Hall (University of Macau, People's Republic of China), Zeinab Hijazi (UNICEF, New York, USA), Lina Issa (Terre des Hommes, Lausanne, Switzerland), Mark Jordans (War Child Holland, Amsterdam, Netherlands (Kingdom of the) and King's College London, London, United Kingdom), Gregory Keane (Médecins Sans Frontières, Paris, France), Brandon Kohrt (George Washington University, Washington DC, USA), Michail Lavdas (Association for Regional Development and Mental Health, Athens, Greece), Ashley Leichner (International Rescue Committee, Washington DC, USA), Crick Lund (King's College London, London, United Kingdom and University of Cape Town, South Africa), Laura Murray (Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, USA), Giovanni Pintaldi (Médecins Sans Frontières, Amsterdam, Netherlands (Kingdom of the), Bhava Poudyal (Bangkok, Thailand), Ashley Nemiro (International Rescue Committee, New York, USA), Giuseppe Raviola (Partners in Health, Boston, USA), Sarah Rizk (Handicap International, Lyon, France), Melissa Robichon (Médecins Sans Frontières, Erbil,

Iraq), Fátima Rodríguez (Partners In Health, Mexico City, Mexico), Guglielmo Schinina (International Organization for Migration, Brussels, Belgium), Lyla Schwartz (Peace of Mind Association, Bern, Switzerland), Nathalie Severy (Médecins Sans Frontières, Brussels, Belgium), Selma Şevkli (International Rescue Committee, New York, USA), Pragya Shrestha (TPO Nepal, Kathmandu, Nepal), Jacinta Sila (World Vision Kenya, Nairobi, Kenya), Stephanie Smith (Partners in Health, Boston, USA), Phaneth Sok (TPO Cambodia, Phnom Penh, Cambodia), Andy Solomon-Osborne (Action Contre la Faim, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia), Katherine Sorsdahl (Alan J. Flisher Centre for Public Mental Health, Cape Town, South Africa), Ana-Maria Tijerino (Médecins Sans Frontières, Geneva, Switzerland), Evangelos Tsilis (United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, Athens, Greece), Wietse Tol (University of Copenhagen, Denmark), Carmen Valle-Trabadelo (International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, Copenhagen, Denmark), Peter Ventevogel (United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, Geneva, Switzerland), Claire Whitney (International Medical Corps, Washington DC, USA), Ann Willhoite (UNICEF, New York, USA), Esubalew Haile Wondimu (International Rescue Committee, New York, NY, USA), and Davide Ziveri (Handicap International, Brussels, Belgium).

Financial support

Bureau for Humanitarian Assistance (BHA), USAID; Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbH (GIZ).

Abbreviations

CBT cognitive behavioural therapy CETA **Common Elements Treatment Approach** CIDT **Community Informant Detection Tool** CST **Caregivers Skills Training** EASE Early Adolescent Skills for Emotions Ensuring Quality in Psychological Support **EQUIP** IASC Inter-Agency Standing Committee IPT interpersonal therapy LMICs low- and middle-income countries M&E monitoring and evaluation mhGAP WHO's Mental Health Gap Action Programme MHPSS mental health and psychosocial support PM+ **Problem Management Plus PTSD** post-traumatic stress disorder SH+ Self-Help Plus **UNHCR** United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees UNICEF United Nations Children's Fund WHO World Health Organization

Introduction

O-IT KEY MESSAGES

- → Evidence-based psychological interventions to treat mental health conditions can help address the mental health care gap that exists in all countries.
- → Many manualized psychological interventions have good evidence for effectiveness in different settings and with different target populations, including in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs).
- → This manual provides practical guidance on how to implement evidence-based, manualized psychological interventions and make them more widely available by integrating them within existing health, social, protection or education services.

1.1 Background

In all countries, mental health conditions¹ are highly prevalent. In 2019, around one in eight people in the world lived with a mental disorder (1). These conditions are the leading cause of years lived with disability (2). The economic consequences of mental health conditions are enormous, with productivity losses and other indirect costs to society often far outstripping health care costs (2).

Most people who experience mental health conditions, including common conditions such as depression and anxiety, do not receive treatment. This may be because mental health services are not available, lack capacity, are inaccessible or unaffordable; or because stigma stops people from seeking help (2).

The high prevalence and vast treatment gap for common mental health conditions mean that countries need to diversify and scale up options for care if they are to move towards universal health coverage. To this end an important strategy is to add evidence-based psychological interventions to existing services, such as health (including mental health) services, social care, protection services, and psychological services at schools and universities (see Box 2.1 Why implement psychological interventions?).

Evidence-based psychological intervention manuals for mental health conditions are informed by and make intentional use of techniques from established psychological treatments such as behavioural activation, stress management, problem-solving therapy, cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) and interpersonal therapy (IPT).

Traditionally, psychological interventions are delivered in person, by trained specialists. But there is now significant evidence to show that briefer, manualized versions of psychological interventions can also be effectively delivered by trained and supervised non-specialists, either face-to-face or remotely, including in LMICs (*3*). People with a wide range of mental

¹ The term "mental health condition" includes mental disorders and psychosocial disabilities. It also covers other mental states associated with significant distress, impairment in functioning, or risk of self-harm.

health conditions – including those experiencing subclinical symptoms as well as those with diagnosed conditions – have been shown to benefit from these types of psychological interventions (*3,4*). Adding them to services has been shown to improve outcomes for people with depression and anxiety (*2*).

Experience further shows that psychological interventions can be added to a service in many innovative ways to greatly increase access. For example, they may be delivered within primary health care (e.g. through collaborative care, see section 2.7.1 Collaborative care), as stepped care (e.g. by providing different interventions depending on need, see section 2.7.2 Stepped care) or as remote care (e.g. by providing a psychological intervention over the telephone, see Annex 2 Points to consider for remote delivery).

The range of manualized psychological interventions tested in LMICs has expanded rapidly over the past 20 years. Universities, nongovernmental organizations and international agencies, including WHO, have developed, tested and disseminated numerous such psychological interventions – mostly for adults – around the world.

As the number of these interventions continues to grow, there is a need to consider how best to implement them on a wider scale and how to ensure that the services delivering these interventions remain sustainable. The question here is: how can service planners and programmers increase the availability of existing evidence-based psychological interventions so that more people can benefit from them?

Psychological intervention manuals describe the content of an intervention and provide specific instructions on how to deliver it consistently. But such manuals do not typically cover actions around service design and provision. It can be difficult for service planners and programmers to decide which psychological intervention to use in which context, and these decision-makers do not always have a clear overview of the likely steps and resources required to implement psychological interventions at significant scale.

1.2 Purpose and use

This implementation manual provides practical guidance on how to implement manualized psychological interventions by integrating them within existing services such as health, social, protection, rehabilitation or education services. This includes how to choose an intervention and delivery model that will support integration within a given context.

Written for managers and others responsible for planning and implementing services, this manual offers an overview of key activities and considerations required to provide and potentially scale manualized psychological interventions delivered by non-specialists for adults, adolescents and children. It does not include specific details of individual interventions but gives general guidance on how to plan, prepare and provide manualized psychological interventions within existing services.

While this guidance focuses on how to implement evidence-based psychological intervention manuals using a non-specialist workforce, different aspects of this guidance may also be useful for implementing psychological interventions in general.

All the activities covered in this manual require collaboration and coordination across

stakeholders and sectors to ensure that interventions are relevant and accessible to those who need them most. This includes engaging nongovernment organizations and governments as well as representatives of local communities, including people with lived experience. At every stage of service design and delivery, community engagement is important to identify and overcome barriers to help-seeking and secure the buy-in of potential service users.

1.2.1 Notes on terminology

- 1. In this implementation manual, the term psychological intervention refers to an evidence-based psychological intervention that is manualized. There are many other psychological interventions that are not evidence-based or that are not manualized, which are not covered in this document.
- 2. This implementation manual does not use the broader term psychosocial intervention, which refers to all interpersonal or informational activities, techniques, or strategies to improve health, functioning and well-being (see

Fig. 1.1) (5). Psychosocial interventions may or may not be manualized and may or may not be evidence-based.

FIG. 1.1

This manual covers the implementation of evidence-based, manualized psychological interventions.



1.3 Structure and overview

The remaining chapters of this manual focus on five key steps for implementing psychological interventions within an existing service: make an implementation plan; adapt for context; prepare the workforce; identify, assess and support potential beneficiaries; and monitor and evaluate the service (see Fig. 1.2).

Each chapter describes the activities required, outlines why they are important and sets out the main points to consider when carrying them out. The need to meaningfully engage local communities and people with lived experiences of mental health conditions cannot be overstated. Throughout this manual you will find boxes that specifically focus on the priorities for engagement at that stage of implementation.

You will also find practical tips and tools to help plan, prepare and provide psychological interventions within an existing service as well as links to further resources that can support implementation. An overall checklist summarizing key activities to do at each stage of implementation is available in Annex 1.

FIG. 1.2

Steps to implement psychological interventions.

Planning Choose one or more psychological interventions for a specific setting and plan how to deliver them to a target population. Adaptation Adapt the psychological interventions for use in a specific context, including translating them into local languages. Workforce COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT Prepare and sustain a competent workforce to deliver the psychological **Engage local** communities. interventions by selecting, training, assessing and supervising providers. Identification, assessment and delivery 1M Identify potential beneficiaries of the psychological interventions and ensure they are directed to the right source of support. **Monitoring and evaluation**



Monitor and evaluate the outcomes and impacts of the service with integrated psychological interventions.



Planning

O-IT KEY MESSAGES

- Establish the purpose of introducing a psychological intervention that is informed by a local situation analysis to identify local mental health needs, capacities and priorities.
- Include multiple stakeholders, including community representatives (e.g. community leaders and people with mental health conditions) in the implementation team.
- Select evidence-based psychological interventions.
- Map out available services (e.g. health, rehabilitation, education, protection and social services) and build multisectoral links for referral.

- Consider models for delivery that maximize efficiency (e.g. task sharing, collaborative care or stepped care).
- Identify the groups of workers that will deliver psychological interventions and provide training and supervision.
- Decide on a format for delivery (individual, group or self-help).
- Specify where and how interventions will be delivered (e.g. in-person, remotely or a combination).
- Allocate sufficient human and financial resources to implement the psychological intervention within the service.

Planning is the first step to implement psychological interventions. It involves deciding which interventions will be provided, why, where, how and when. Choosing relevant and effective psychological interventions for the given setting is critical. Ultimately, the decisions made during planning will determine the interventions' reach and usefulness. The implementation plan should be tailored to local needs and contexts and based on evidence of effectiveness in comparable situations.

To ensure the plan can be successfully carried out it should be:

- comprehensive in listing activities throughout implementation;
- specific in defining roles, responsibilities and timelines for action; and
- fully budgeted and appropriately resourced.

Ensuring that all activities in the plan are properly resourced may require additional fund-raising and advocacy work. Key questions to address in an implementation plan are highlighted in Fig. 2.1. Importantly, there is no single order in which to answer these questions, but all should be answered as part of the plan.

Planning should be undertaken by a multistakeholder implementation team that contains a broad range of knowledge and skills. This could potentially include service managers, local mental health professionals, community representatives, as well as stakeholders from other non-health sectors (including relevant nongovernment organizations).

The implementation team uses situation analyses, evidence reviews and stakeholder engagement to address the seven questions above and develop an implementation plan (see sections 2.1–2.7 below). The team continues to work together throughout implementation, overseeing and facilitating activities.



FIG. 2.1 Seven key questions to address in an implementation plan.



COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

When implementing psychological interventions:

- **Involve** community members (e.g. community leaders and people with lived experience of mental health conditions) in decision-making processes to design services that include relevant, accessible and acceptable psychological interventions (including potentially as core members of the implementation team).
- **Inform** community members about mental health conditions and the psychological intervention (both before and while the intervention is available) to increase awareness, understanding and uptake of psychological interventions.
- **Collaborate** with community members to communicate about and deliver the psychological interventions in a way that meets community needs to maximize the interventions' reach and impact. This may include understanding whether people can access an intervention remotely.

2.1 Establish the purpose of psychological intervention

A first task in planning is to establish the rationale for implementing psychological interventions (see Box 2.1 Why implement psychological interventions?). This is about establishing the need for action in a specific setting. It is achieved through situation analyses of local mental health needs, capacities (e.g. services and resources available to treat mental health conditions) and demands (e.g. use of mental health services).

BOX 2.1 Why implement psychological interventions?

There are many reasons why psychological interventions need to be made available in communities around the world. The need for action on mental health is indisputable and urgent, and psychological interventions are part of the answer to the gap between the prevalence of mental health conditions, which is high, and access to adequate care, which is low.

Psychological interventions – which can be delivered and potentially scaled by non-specialists – can be highly effective for many mental health conditions, particularly depression and anxiety. They offer an evidence-based alternative to psychotropic medicines, especially in services that mainly offer medicines to manage mental health conditions (e.g many primary health care clinics around the world); or services that do not cover pharmacological interventions (e.g. social or community services) or that experience drug supply problems. Psychological interventions can also effectively complement psychotropic medicines in health services that mainly offer medicines to manage mental health conditions.

Implementing psychological interventions can help improve effectiveness of care. For example,

psychological interventions and antidepressants are likely equally effective in treating depression in the short term. But psychological interventions have shown higher sustained response than antidepressants over the long term and antidepressants have more adverse effects. Also, psychological interventions are known to be more effective than pharmacological ones in treating certain conditions such as post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). Collaborative care for depression and anxiety – which typically includes a psychological intervention as part of the treatment plan – is similarly more effective than routine pharmacological treatment of depression in primary health care.

In some situations, psychological interventions can be used to overcome logistical barriers to access through remote delivery (see section 2.3 Decide setting for delivery). For example, when psychological interventions are made available digitally through guided self-help.

Making psychological interventions available is especially important in settings where the target population prefers psychological interventions over pharmacological ones.

Sources: WHO, 2022 (2); Furukawa et al, 2021(6); Archer et al, 2012 (7); Xiao et al, 2021 (8); Affengruber et al, 2023 (9), WHO, 2013 (10).

2.1.1 Points to consider

Local epidemiology. There are many psychological interventions available to help people with different mental health conditions. Before deciding which ones to implement, establish which mental health conditions are most prevalent or burdensome in the local context. Review:

- · local or national epidemiological data; and
- international estimates of prevalence rates calculated by the Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME) (11) and burden of disease calculated by WHO (12).

In all cases, depression and anxiety will likely be targets for psychological interventions as both conditions are very common in adolescents and adults across the world. But there may be situations where there is reason to focus on other mental health conditions. Often multiple mental health conditions can be targeted at once.

Local services and resources. Review existing mental health care – whether within health, social or educational settings. This includes assessing service providers' capacities for treating specific conditions, identifying if any interventions are already available and mapping out gaps and requirements in services and resources (both human and financial). Hold discussions with local and national stakeholders during the situation analysis to help you identify perceived needs and priorities, raise awareness of plans and lay the foundations for future engagement. Such a mapping may also help to inform referral routes and multisectoral cooperation (see section 2.5 Identify associated services).

Target population. Clearly specify the intended population to be served by the interventions, as well as expected outcomes.

Barriers to participation. Consider the local context in which services are delivered to ensure that psychological interventions will be useful to the target population. Review service use by the target population and identify barriers to demand or inclusion so that these may be effectively addressed within the implementation plan. People with physical impairments or chronic illnesses may face physical or practical barriers to receiving a psychological intervention. Other groups may be marginalized in different ways. Language can be a major barrier to accessing care. Stigma as well as distrust of treatment and medical personnel can also prevent help-seeking and impact treatment adherence. If delivering an intervention remotely, consider whether most people will have access to a smartphone, other internet connected device or telephone. Consult local community members to gain insight to local attitudes and beliefs of people with mental health conditions, their families and health care providers.

2.2 Choose psychological interventions

Once you have identified local needs and priorities and specified target mental health conditions and populations, you need to select the most appropriate psychological interventions. You may choose to start by implementing a single intervention, or you may decide to plan for multiple interventions, for example as part of a stepped care system to address varying levels of distress (see section 2.4 Organize the system for delivery). The key here is to choose psychological interventions with an established evidence base that is relevant to local realities. There should be enough evidence to give confidence that the intervention will likely be effective if properly implemented and that it is unlikely to cause harm. WHO has recommended different types of psychological treatments for different mental health conditions (see Table 2.1).

TABLE 2.1Summary of WHO recommendations for psychological treatments.

PSYCHOLOGICAL TREATMENT ^a RECOMMENDED FOR		
Behavioural activation	Adults with depressionPeople with dementia with depression	
Behavioural intervention	 Children and adolescents with behavioural disorders, including conduct disorder 	
Brief interventions for hazardous and harmful substance use ^b	 Adults using cannabis Adults using psychostimulants People with hazardous or harmful alcohol use 	
Brief psychodynamic therapy	Adults with depression	
Caregivers skills training	 Caregivers of children and adolescents with behavioural, emotional or developmental disorders 	
Cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT)	 Adults and children with epilepsy (adjunct to antiseizure medicine) Adults, children and adolescents with PTSD Adults with acute traumatic stress symptoms Adults with bipolar disorder in remission (adjunct to pharmacological interventions) Adults with bodily distress complaints^c Adults with depression Adults with generalized anxiety disorder Adults with panic disorder Adults with psychotic disorders (including schizophrenia) in the acute and maintenance phase Children and adolescents with ADHD Children and adolescents with somatoform disorders Children and adolescents with somatoform disorder Children and adolescents with somatoform disorder Children whose parents have mental health conditions People with dementia People with dementia with depression 	
Cognitive stimulation therapy	People with dementia	
Cognitive training	People with dementia	
Contingency management therapy	 People with alcohol and drug use disorder 	
Eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (EMDR)	 Adults, children and adolescents with PTSD 	
Interpersonal therapy / interpersonal psychotherapy	 Adults with depression People with dementia with depression Children and adolescents with emotional disorders 	

PSYCHOLOGICAL TREATMENT ^a	RECOMMENDED FOR	
Interpersonal skills training	Adolescents with disruptive/oppositional behaviours	
Motivational enhancement therapy	 People with alcohol and drug use disorder 	
Problem-solving therapy	 Adults with depression and subthreshold depressive symptoms Adults with generalized anxiety disorder Adults with panic disorder People with suicidal thoughts or with acts of self-harm in the last year 	
Problem solving skills training	Adolescents with disruptive/oppositional behaviours	
Interventions using cognitive learning techniques to enhance communication and social competencies	 Children and adolescents with neurodevelopmental disabilities 	
Interventions focused on social skills training and developmental behavioural approaches	Children and adolescents with autism	
Interventions focused on social skills, cognitive and organizational skills training	 Adults with psychosis and bipolar disorder and their carers Children and adolescents with ADHD 	
Stress management (including relaxation and mindfulness training)	 Adults with generalized anxiety disorder Adults with panic disorder Adults with PTSD or symptoms of anxiety Adults with epilepsy (adjunct to antiseizure medicine) People with suicidal thoughts 	
Third wave therapies ^d	 Adults with depression Adults with generalized anxiety disorder Adults with panic disorder Carers of people with dementia 	
Psychological interventions for people with substance use disorders ^e	 People with alcohol and drug use disorders 	

^a This table includes indicated prevention for people with signs or symptoms of a mental health conditions but do not meet diagnostic criteria for mental disorder. It excludes WHO recommendations on a) treatment format (e.g. group, family, couples, digital, self-help, mutual help), (b) psychoeducation, (c) preventive universal psychosocial interventions, (d) multi-component interventions and (e) unspecified interventions (e.g. structured counselling, psychotherapy or structured psychosocial interventions). This table does not specify when interventions are recommended only for a specific severity level of the condition (e.g. mild, moderate or severe). It does not cover recommendations for combined psychotropic and psychological treatments and does not cover other required supports such as social interventions. WHO recommends that for some of the substance use disorders (e.g. alcohol and opioid use disorders), psychological treatment combined with pharmacological interventions. For a full list of WHO recommendations please see: Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240084278

^b Despite their name, brief interventions for substance use are not generic; they involve specific therapeutic techniques, including, possibly, psychoeducation, simple advice, motivational interviewing and referral.

^c A synonym of bodily distress complaints is medically unexplained complaints.

^d Third wave therapies include: Mindfulness based interventions, acceptance and commitment therapy, metacognitive therapy, and dialectical behavioural therapy.

^e Psychological interventions with demonstrated effectiveness for substance use disorders include CBT, contingency management, community reinforcement approach, motivational interviewing, motivational enhancement therapy, and family orientated treatment approach.

Many evidence-based psychological intervention manuals cover one of these recommended psychological treatments. Ensuring that a selected psychological intervention manual makes use of a recommended treatment is an important part of the evidence review.

In addition to reviewing evidence of effectiveness for target mental health conditions, the implementation team should also look for any evidence that psychological interventions will be effective in the local context. This includes evidence of successful trials with populations affected by similar adversities, or with similarities in context in another setting. Such evidence greatly strengthens confidence that the interventions will work locally and means that less adaptation will be needed before the intervention can be used (see Chapter 3 Adaptation).

Many psychological interventions – including several developed by WHO – were developed for people with specific problems in low-resource settings. But they were also designed to suit many other contexts and types of adversity (see Table 2.2) (3). These interventions require some adaptation before they can be used in similar settings (see Chapter 3 Adaptation).

TABLE 2.2

Example WHO psychological interventions (including digital programmes) developed for different target groups with specific problems in low-resource settings.

FORMAT	TARGET POPULATION
Group	Caregivers of children with developmental disabilities, including autism
Self-help (digital, book)	Adults with psychological distress
Group	Young adolescents with psychological distress
Group	Adults with depressive symptoms
Self-help (digital, book)	Carers of people with dementia
Individual or group	Adults with depression or anxiety
Group/multi-media self-help	Adults with psychological distress
Digital self-help	Adults with depression
Individual	Mothers with perinatal depression
	Group Self-help (digital, book) Group Group Self-help (digital, book) Individual or group Group/multi-media self-help Digital self-help

^a All these examples are (or will soon be) available to download from the WHO Institutional Repository for Information Sharing (https://apps.who.int/iris/).

^bAll the interventions developed by the WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use can be found on their page on scalable psychological interventions (https://www.who.int/teams/mental-health-and-substance-use/treatment-care/ innovations-in-psychological-interventions).

^c Carswell K, Harper-Shehadeh M, Watts S, van 't Hof E, Abi Ramia J, Heim E et al. Step-by-Step: a new WHO digital mental health intervention for depression. Mhealth. 2018;4:34. doi:10.21037/mhealth.2018.08.01.

2.2.1 Points to consider

Strength of evidence. Not all evidence deserves equal weight. Choose the psychological intervention that is supported by the strongest evidence, preferably multiple high-quality randomized controlled trials. These trials will preferably have been done in a similar context to the one where you are planning to implement psychological interventions. Ideally, they will have been replicated by independent researchers (which means that the scientists who developed the intervention manual are not co-investigators of the trial).

Search for and review other relevant information in the peer-reviewed and grey literature² to decide whether the intervention can be implemented locally. The literature review should include any information that:

- shows the intervention is feasible, affordable and cost–effective;
- suggests the intervention may be scalable; and
- identifies potential barriers to participation (for example, the number of sessions people are typically willing and able to attend), dropout rates and likely reasons for people dropping out.

Target population. Psychological interventions are sometimes only proven effective for a specific population group. Yet, the effectiveness of psychological interventions usually generalizes across genders, adult age groups, people with or without comorbid medical conditions, and people in or not in primary health care settings (*13*). After careful consideration and appropriate adaptation, it may be reasonable to implement an intervention outside its exact tested ranges (for example delivering an intervention tested

with 18- to 60-year-old women with depression to anyone with depression aged 16 and over) (see Chapter 3 Adaptation). When choosing an intervention, also think about other factors such as any preferences within the target population for group, individual or remote models.

Transdiagnostic interventions. Transdiagnostic interventions tackle shared problems that frequently occur across a range of commonly occurring mental health conditions such as anxiety and depression. They are often preferable to psychological interventions that target a single mental health condition (e.g. depression).

A transdiagnostic psychological intervention takes shared, non-specific components of established psychological treatments for different mental health conditions and combines them into a single treatment model. One such example, the Common Elements Treatment Approach, has been tested for a wide range of outcomes (depression, anxiety, substance use and PTSD) in LMICs around the world (*14*). Examples of WHO transdiagnostic interventions are Problem Management Plus (PM+) and Self-Help Plus (SH+) (see Table 2.2).

Online availability of interventions. Intervention manuals may be (a) freely available online (open access), (b) available through online purchase, or (c) potentially available from the author or organization holding copyright (who can put limits on the manual's availability and use). How accessible a manual is should be a key consideration in deciding whether to use it. Although manual developers cannot control quality of care when their manual is available online, online availability of manuals is important to ensure equitable access.

² Grey literature refers to reports and publications that are not in peer-reviewed journals.

Available budget and resources. Make sure that all interventions you choose can be adequately delivered within the budget and resources available. This includes ensuring sufficient budget and resources to train and supervise

the workforce. If it is not feasible to implement a multi-session, in-person intervention, implementing a group or guided self-help intervention is preferable to no intervention at all or an intervention that may prove unsustainable.

2.3 Decide setting for delivery

A key part of planning is to specify where the psychological intervention will be delivered, with a focus on integration to an existing community-based service. While there is no single model for organizing community-based mental health services, Fig. 2.2 shows WHO's model network of formal community-based mental health services. Within any network of services there are typically various opportunities to integrate one or more psychological interventions.

It is important to review the pros and cons of different services and settings for delivering psychological interventions. Table 2.3 reviews potential benefits and challenges for diverse settings that are commonly used for delivering psychological interventions. These also include settings outside the formal mental health system. Involving local communities can help identify spaces, services and organizations that are appropriate and acceptable to the target population. Where face-to-face support is difficult to provide, or where support is needed across a large area, remote delivery (by videoconference, online messaging or telephone) may be a good option. For example, in conflict-affected areas where providers cannot safely gain access to populations, or in spread-out regions, where providers have difficulties reaching individuals in need. During the COVID-19 pandemic, there was a global upsurge in remote delivery. Evidence shows that psychological interventions delivered remotely are likely as effective as face-to-face interventions. (*15*) Interventions designed for face-to-face delivery can typically also be adapted for remote delivery.

Remote delivery should not be seen as a replacement for in-person support. Relying on digital technologies to deliver interventions risks excluding poor or marginalized people without access to the internet or a private phone (2). A key objective in organizing services is to offer different delivery options to support a broad range of needs and preferences (2).

FIG. 2.2.

WHO's model network of community-based mental health services includes many options for integrating psychological interventions.



TABLE 2.3

Common settings for delivering psychological interventions and their potential benefits and challenges.

EXAMPLE SETTING	POTENTIAL BENEFITS	POTENTIAL CHALLENGES
Community spaces or homes	 Convenient location for the service user. Private and confidential space (if the space is not shared). 	 Not a necessarily convenient location for the provider. Lack of privacy (if the space is shared). Lack of confidentiality and associated risk of stigma. Risk of interruptions and noise. Weak links to referral pathways to health and social services if the providers are not part of these services.
Women's centres, youth clubs or similar spaces	 Low stigma setting to help survivors of gender-based violence (if the intervention is just one of many different supports provided at a women's centre). Accessible to those not enrolled in school (if the intervention is for young people). 	 Not accessible to all. May have weak links to health and social services.
Schools	 Convenient location (for those attending school). Accessible to many young people. 	 Risk of stigma from peers. Not accessible to those not enrolled in school. Weak links to referral pathways to health and social services.
Primary health care	 Convenient location. Can use existing links to other health care services. Low stigma compared with mental health services. Intervention can be combined with psychotropic medicine if indicated. 	 Private space might not be available. Typically requires adding human resources to deliver the psychological intervention. Risk of unnecessary prescription of psychotropic medicine.
Mental health unit in general hospital or community mental health centre	 Convenient location (for those already attending these services). Private and confidential space. Well-known and accepted location to receive care. Access to specialized care. Intervention can be combined with psychotropic medicine if indicated. 	 Usually far away from where people live. Risk of unnecessary prescription of psychotropic medicine.

EXAMPLE SETTING	POTENTIAL BENEFITS	POTENTIAL CHALLENGES
Remote delivery	 Private and confidential space (if the space or device is not shared). Continuity of care during crises. Overcomes transport barriers (such as distance, cost or travelling time). Accessible to people with physical disabilities or other difficulties that make it hard to travel. Accessible to people in remote communities or other hard-to-reach areas (if they have a phone or internet). 	 Fewer non-verbal cues make communication harder. Harder to manage high-risk situations (such as imminent risk of suicide). Reliance on technology and telecommunications that may be unreliable. Not accessible to people without a phone or internet (equity issue). Potential for major interruptions (e.g. software freezes or crashes), background noise and distractions. Costs may be incurred through mobile or data plans. Data privacy concerns and reluctance to share private information online.

2.3.1 Points to consider

Accessibility. The target population should be able to access the intervention easily and affordably. For each potential delivery setting, consider:

- how far the proposed location is from the target population;
- whether or not people already go to that location;
- the extent to which there is stigma attached to the location; and
- what other barriers may prevent people from wanting or being able to get there.

Talk to local communities to gain insight to people's likely attitudes and behaviour; people are less likely to attend a setting that they believe stigmatizes them.

Existing services. Before choosing a setting for delivery consider the quality and sustainability of existing services. This includes the potential capacity of staff (in terms of skills and workloads) to deliver or supervise psychological

interventions. Potential settings can also be assessed on the strength of their links to associated services and on the extent to which other relevant benefits or supports (such as health care, economic support, nutrition programmes or social activities) are provided there.

Safety and security. Consider whether the setting for delivery is safe and secure for both service users and providers. The setting for delivery should have:

- a private space for confidential conversations;
- appropriate on-site physical security measures for staff and service users; and
- adequate data security for any private information, including service user files.

If you are implementing a digital intervention, consider any additional requirements such as data protection and operating procedures to ensure safety (16).

Remote delivery. See Annex 2 for additional points to consider for remote delivery.

2.4 Organize the system for delivery

With a range of psychological interventions shown to be effective in LMICs, service planners can consider using more comprehensive and integrated systems for delivery. These provide one or more psychological interventions, coordinated with other services and supports (see section 2.5 Identify associated services).

There are various models available for organizing the delivery of psychological interventions. Here we briefly describe two: collaborative care and stepped care. These can be used separately or together.

2.4.1 Collaborative care

Collaborative care is a multi-component system for delivery with a large body of evidence that strongly supports its use in managing depression and other common mental health conditions (17). In collaborative care systems, a health team shares tasks, with a care manager playing a central role and coordinating the care (2). For example, in collaborative care for depression, individuals are typically:

- identified through screening;³
- linked with community resources to address any social needs;
- given evidence-based psychological interventions;
- prescribed psychotropic medicine if indicated; and
- monitored over time using the same measure.

A care manager is central to the delivery or coordination of collaborative care. They work alongside general medical practitioner, and can, when trained, deliver psychological interventions. A mental health specialist supports the team through regular meetings to review cases where people are not improving and recommend adjustments to their care. Changes potentially include stepping up the intensity of care and specialist referral.

Collaborative care has been applied in primary care settings as well as disease-specific programmes (e.g. for diabetes or HIV) (see Box 2.2 Collaborative care in India). Research shows it is much more effective and cost–effective than routine integration of mental health in general health care (18). But collaborative care requires the resources for employing a care manager, which can pose a barrier to use of this model.⁴

2.4.2 Stepped care

Stepped care offers a pragmatic approach to ensuring that more resource intensive interventions are reserved for people for whom less costly interventions are not sufficient. In practice, it typically includes two components for organizing delivery:

- a choice of different interventions that can be matched to people's needs and suitability; and
- 2. a process for directing individuals to care, both after their initial assessment and after each step of intervention.

Exactly how these components come together to implement stepped care varies, depending on local contexts, including what mental health conditions are addressed, the availability of local services and resources, and sociocultural considerations (see Box 2.3 Stepped care in the United Kingdom). For example, people may initially be offered a lower-intensity intervention, such

³ Screening may be opportunistic or systematic, depending on the capacity of the service to support people who screen positive (see section 5.1 Identify and reach potential beneficiaries).

⁴ For more information on implementing collaborative care, see WHO's forthcoming collaborative care manual.

as unguided or guided self-help delivered by supervised non-specialists. Those who do not respond adequately to this are subsequently stepped up to a higher-intensity intervention, for example an individual or group psychological intervention, also delivered by a supervised non-specialist, and possibly combined with psychotropic medicine if indicated. A final step for people who still do not respond adequately might then be support from a specialist.

BOX 2.2 Collaborative care in India

In India, the Integrating Depression and Diabetes Treatment (INDEPENDENT) model of collaborative care was designed to improve access to mental health care by using multidisciplinary health teams to integrate treatments for depression and diabetes within a single setting (an urban diabetes clinic).

Over two years (2016–2018), care managers were trained and supervised to deliver psychological interventions (mainly based on behavioural activation) to people with diabetes and comorbid depressive symptoms. Care managers also received peer support as well as coaching and emotional support from specialist supervisors to help them cope with the stress and emotional burden of their new role.

A randomized controlled trial of the INDEPENDENT model of collaborative care found it led to much better clinical outcomes than usual care.

Source: Ali et al, 2020 (19).

BOX 2.3

Stepped care in the United Kingdom

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) is a national programme of psychological interventions for anxiety and depression in the United Kingdom. This is delivered to individuals or groups, by supervised non-specialists called Psychological Well-being Practitioners. Receiving around 1.25 million referrals per year, IAPT is the world's largest systematic implementation of evidence-based psychological treatment.

IAPT uses a stepped care approach to offer progressively intensive treatments, based on clinical need. People may first receive a lower-intensity, guided self-help based on CBT principles. Practitioners monitor service users' progress during the guided self-help and those who do not improve by the end of it are stepped up to receive high-intensity psychological treatments from qualified therapists. In IAPT, people initially presenting with more complex needs may be immediately offered a higher-intensity intervention.

A review of 60 studies found large improvements in depression and anxiety among people attending IAPT services.

2.5 Identify associated services

No single psychological intervention can address the full range of needs that people living with mental health conditions may have. Any service offering psychological interventions needs to be linked to a range of other services and supports.

Identifying and connecting to associated services involves building on the findings of the situation analysis (see section 2.1 Identify local mental health needs and capacities) and connecting with any stakeholders that coordinate responses or services in the local setting (e.g. district health and social care bodies).

In mapping services, it is important to think about the needs of people who will not receive the psychological intervention for any reason or who need extra support. People at imminent risk of suicide or people severely impaired by psychosis, dementia, intellectual disability or substance dependence also need to be referred to relevant mental health and social care services.

All referral options for care should be mapped. This includes services that address child, gender-based violence and livelihood supports which can be engaged before or during the psychological intervention as required (see section 5.3 Refer people to the right source of support).

Overall, associated services likely include mental health and social services, mental health professionals in private practice, protection and legal services and supports as well as services in schools and possibly universities.

2.5.1 Points to consider

Multisectoral coordination. Identify and coordinate referral services across sectors before implementation begins and engage them during the planning phase. Community workers and gatekeepers (e.g. traditional and religious leaders, community leaders and village elders) can be very valuable partners to help address social needs and to identify people for psychological interventions.

Minimum requirements for referral. Referral options for people at imminent risk of suicide and for people with severe mental, neurological or substance use conditions must be in place when implementing psychological interventions for people with depression or anxiety. Referral options may be created by training and supervising staff in the local health system to assess and manage mental, neurological and substance use conditions, for example through the mhGAP programme (21) or through referral to a local hospital. Relevant referral options must also be in place for gender-based violence and violence against children (22).

2.6 Identify human resource needs

A large part of ensuring quality and effective psychological interventions is about securing adequate human resources for implementation. Any implementation plan should include a consideration of likely staffing needs and identify groups of workers that can deliver, train and supervise psychological interventions in practice.

Psychological interventions can be delivered effectively by mental health specialists (such as clinical psychologists, professional counsellors, psychiatrists, mental health nurses, and social workers) when they have received appropriate training and completed relevant supervised practice. But these interventions can also be effectively delivered by trained and supervised non-specialist providers. This includes a wide range of community providers, such as community health workers, volunteers, and people with lived experience of mental health conditions.

In practice, the choice of provider largely depends on their availability to take on this role. General health care providers for example are certainly capable of delivering psychological interventions with the right training and support but they are often already too busy with existing workloads and as such rarely implement psychological interventions that involve multiple sessions. See section 4.1 Choose the workforce for more details on selecting trainers, supervisors and providers.

2.6.1 Points to consider

Suitability of providers When specifying groups of non-specialist providers, consider their ability to provide multiple sessions of psychological interventions. Providers can be trained, supervised and supported to develop the necessary skills but they, like their trainers and supervisors, also need the appropriate attitudes to undertake the work (see section 4.1 Choose the workforce).

Sustainability. To ensure that psychological interventions can be provided over the long term, think about how providers and supervisors will remain incentivized and supported over time. The use of volunteers or project-funded staff is usually difficult to sustain.

2.7 Choose format for delivery

Psychological interventions are typically delivered to individuals or groups (see Table 2.4), in person or remotely (see section 2.3 Decide setting for delivery). They can also be provided as self-help interventions that may be delivered through multiple media including books, audio or video materials and online or app-based platforms.

Self-help may or may not be guided (facilitated). Self-help psychological interventions are likely more effective and have lower dropout when guidance is provided to help people work through the content of the intervention (23). Guided self-help interventions, especially when delivered remotely, can also be delivered more easily to large numbers of people than conventional face-to-face psychological interventions. They can be used alongside more conventional face-to-face interventions or as a first step in stepped care (see section 2.4.2 Stepped care).⁵

⁵ For more information, see WHO's forthcoming manual on guided self-help.

TABLE 2.4

Potential advantages and drawbacks of example delivery formats available for psychological interventions.

INTERVENTION TYPE	ADVANTAGES	DRAWBACKS
 Individual interventions A single service provider delivers the intervention to a single service user. 	 More opportunity to build a supportive therapeutic relationship. Easier to respond to the person's individual situation or needs. Easier to ensure confidentiality. Likely more acceptable to people who find it difficult to share their problems with community members. 	 Reaches fewer people at a time. Relatively resource intensive. Less opportunity to build relationships with or learn from peers with similar lived experiences. Individual interventions may not be consistent with cultural coping norms.
2. Group interventions One or two facilitators deliver the intervention to multiple service users at once.	 Reaches multiple people at a time. Group members can support and learn from each other and feel validated in their feelings and experiences. People can build supportive peer relationships that may endure even after the intervention is completed. 	 Can take longer to set up and difficult to organize outside local communities (because multiple people must get to the same place at the same time). Confidentiality is harder to ensure. Some people can find it hard to listen to other people's problems. Not necessarily acceptable or suitable to all service users. Dropouts can cause disruption to the group.
3. Self-help interventions Individual service users complete the intervention themselves, alone or in groups, with or without guidance from a service provider.	 Requires fewer human resources. Can be feasibly used as a first intervention in a stepped care system. Potentially reaches people that cannot access in-person interventions (e.g. those living in hard to reach areas). Reduces waiting lists and barriers associated with travel. Except for group self-help, people participate in their own time, at their own pace, and wherever they prefer. Potentially less stigmatizing. 	 Some people may feel they are being offered an inferior service. Monitoring can be difficult. People may not use the intervention as intended. Dropout may be higher and harder to identify. Written self-help materials may be inaccessible to people who cannot read or write. Access to digital self-help interventions can be uneven across populations.
2.7.1 Points to consider

Changes to the intervention. When choosing an intervention consider the degree to which it can be delivered in a similar way as done in the research trial. Do not change the core components of the intervention and monitor any adaptations in case of problems (see Chapter 3 Adaptation). You may need to make changes to the timing (frequency of sessions) and dose (overall number and length of sessions) of the intervention because of your setting, yet these may impact the intervention's effectiveness. In general, research suggests that two sessions per week is more effective than once a week (*24*).

Resources. Different delivery formats have different resource requirements (see Fig. 2.3). Consider the financial and human resources

required before choosing a format. If one format is too costly for the setting, consider using a lower resource intensity format.

Scale up and impact. Some formats are easier to scale than others and there can be a trade off with effectiveness. For example, unguided self-help likely has a smaller benefit. But it can have far greater reach and is easier to implement compared with guided self-help, which is more resource intensive.

Still, the potential reach and effectiveness of an intervention are not always related. For example, CBT as guided self-help delivered online has the potential to reach many people (see Box 2.4 Step-by-Step in Lebanon). It has consistently been shown to be as effective as face-to-face CBT (*25*).



FIG. 2.3

Human resource intensity of different psychological interventions.

Human resource intensity of intervention

BOX 2.4 Step-by-Step in Lebanon

Step-by-Step is a WHO psychological intervention for depression. It uses a digital guided self-help format to train people in behavioural activation and other therapeutic techniques such as stress management and positive self-talk.

In 2020, amid concurring economic, humanitarian and political crises and the COVID-19 pandemic in Lebanon, a culturally adapted version of Step-by-Step using a guided self-help format was tested with Lebanese citizens and displaced Syrians through two large randomized controlled trials.

Sources: Cuijpers et al, 2022 (26), Cuijpers et al, 2022 (27).

The trials showed that the intervention was effective in reducing symptoms of depression and improving functioning and well-being, including at three-month follow-up. The trials also showed it could be delivered safely, with procedures developed to ensure support to people in high-risk situations (e.g. imminent risk of suicide). Step-by-Step has subsequently been scaled up as a national service in Lebanon and is available to anyone in the country. People who completed the programme said it was relevant, acceptable and beneficial.

Adaptation

O-m KEY MESSAGES

- Adapt intervention materials for use in the local context by ensuring they are accurately translated and locally understandable, acceptable and relevant.
- Ensure there is sufficient time and resources for adaptation.
- Maintain the core therapeutic components of the intervention during the adaptation process.
- → Document all adaptations in a systematic way.

All chosen psychological intervention materials will need to be adapted to the local language, context (e.g. health system, human resources, infrastructure), and culture (e.g. attitudes, beliefs and social norms).

Adaptation not only involves translation but also changing other aspects of the materials related to the psychological intervention package. These materials include the intervention manual detailing the treatment protocol, training and supervision materials, handouts, and audio-visual materials.

All materials in the adapted intervention package need to be accurate as well as understandable, acceptable and relevant to the people using them (see Fig. 3.1).

FIG. 3.1

The goals of adaptation.



ADAPTATION GOALS



COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

Local community members provide essential insight into whether materials are understandable, acceptable and relevant. Involving local community members in the adaptation process will also increase their engagement with the service.

Adaptations will be most helpful when diverse members of communities are engaged, including not only people with lived experience but also potentially community workers, mental health professionals, traditional healers and future providers of the adapted intervention.

It is important to include representatives from marginalized groups and minority groups for whom equitable access to effective mental health supports is vital.

3.1 Prepare for adaptation

Successfully adapting the intervention package will increase an intervention's impact and uptake among the target population and reduce the risk of doing harm to local communities. It also allows planners to account for variable programme capacities and constraints.

The degree to which an intervention package needs adapting depends on how similar the target population is in terms of age and gender of the population in which the intervention was previously tested. It also depends on how similar the local context is to that where the intervention was previously tested. There may be different:

- social, individual and cultural issues, for example related to gender, disability, language, religion, idioms of distress, attitudes toward mental health and mental health care;
- resources available, for example for health care, social care, as well as informal supports; and
- other contextual issues, for example conflict, forced displacement, disease outbreaks, and climate challenges such as flooding.

There are different degrees to which materials may be adapted. Adaptation can simply mean re-drawing illustrations or changing people's names in case studies so that they are more familiar to target populations. Or it can involve more complex changes, for example to reflect local concepts of distress or healing (see Fig. 3.2).

The degree of adaptation may also depend on the intervention itself. Interventions that are broadly developed for low-resource settings tend to be designed for populations affected by different forms of adversity and may be easier to adapt for a specific LMIC context than interventions developed for high-income settings. Similarly, materials illustrated with people from different cultures may require fewer adaptations than those illustrated for a specific cultural or ethnic group. Often adapting an intervention for specific populations can be simply achieved by adding new examples relevant to that group, rather than re-writing the whole manual. Importantly, adaptations should not cause the purported active ingredients of the intervention to be lost, as that may make the intervention's effectiveness highly uncertain. For example, if an intervention involves discussing risks of suicide, removing this aspect to be more culturally acceptable may ultimately undermine the intervention's benefits. Adaptations may involve changes to both the content and format of the intervention package. For example, if the intervention uses text-based handouts but the target population is largely illiterate, the handouts may be adapted to be illustrations, audio materials or videos.

FIG. 3.2

Examples of cultural adaptation to PM+.



3.1.1 Secure financial and human resources

Before starting the adaptation process it is important to secure time and resources, and to set clear parameters, for adaptation.

An adaptation team is typically needed and should include people with a mix of expertise and

experience. Adaptation teams should include at the very least:

- local mental health professionals with relevant language skills (i.e. the language of the original manual and the language spoken by local people); and
- future providers of the intervention with relevant language skills.

Depending on resources available, adaptation teams may also include:

- people with lived experience, including those from minority or marginalized groups;
- community gatekeepers from diverse backgrounds (for example village elders, religious leaders, traditional healers);
- local government representatives working in the areas of health and social care; and
- other experts in the local context, such as medical anthropologists.

Professional translators are rarely suited to translating intervention manuals as they tend to use language that is too difficult for lay providers.

The adaptation team should preferably be led by someone who is bilingual with experience in the intervention and/or adaptation. The team also needs a timeline and a budget. These will depend on the volume of the materials and the extent to which adaptation is necessary, as well as the thoroughness of the adaptation process. The process should include an evaluation of the adapted materials by stakeholders, including service users. Interventions that use audio or video materials or extensive illustrations may require more time and greater community review because such materials are hard to change once put to use (see Box 3.1 Adapting self-help materials in section 3.2 Adapt psychological interventions).

3.1.2 Set parameters for adaptation

Setting parameters for adaptation is about identifying which parts of the intervention package will be adapted. Key questions follow.

Who is going to use the materials? Different materials in the intervention package are designed for use by different groups of people, such as trainers, supervisors or service users. A nuanced approach based on likely user groups is important in multilingual settings.

How will the materials be used? Different parts of the intervention package will be used in different ways, which impacts whether and how they should be adapted. Written text and audio recordings are likely to require translating into local languages.

How will the materials be delivered? If the intervention will be delivered in a different format to the original, then the materials in the intervention package likely need adapting. For example, a change from in-person to remote delivery will mean the intervention manual and handouts for service users may need to change.

What are the intervention's active ingredients? All psychological interventions will include specific therapeutic components, or active ingredients, (for example behavioural activation) as well as non-specific components (such as showing empathy). Removing or changing active ingredients during adaptation risks undermining the intervention's effectiveness (see section 3.2.5 Agree on adaptations for examples of correct and incorrect adaptations).

In most cases, deciding which materials to adapt involves finding the right balance between preserving the therapeutic components of an intervention while making it understandable, acceptable and relevant to the target population.

BOX 3.1. Adapting self-help interventions

Self-help interventions that use substantial media such as illustrations, audio materials or videos may present unique challenges. The components of adaptation still apply, but they may be implemented using a more iterative approach to adaptation and review. For example, rather than re-drawing all illustrations or re-recording an entire audio or video intervention, it may be better to take a small section, adapt that and then test it with community members before moving on to the next section and so on, until the whole intervention is adapted. An iterative approach will help reduce errors that may be costly to fix later. The quality of audio and video production for self-help materials matters, including in adaptations. It is also important to get the language and tone correct, as this is hard to undo after recording. Reviewing examples of popular media (e.g. television adverts, national radio shows) can help with understanding the warmth or tone needed in self-help materials, especially if there are complexities, such as formal and informal types of expression, or multiple dialects.

3.2 Adapt psychological interventions

Adaptation comprises eight components that can be categorized as essential or optional, depending on context and resource availability (see Fig. 3.3 and sections 3.2.1 to 3.2.6) (*28*).

These components are not set in stone: both the components themselves and the order in which they are carried out can be modified. In some cases, there may be reason to exclude a component altogether. For example, if stakeholders already understand the language that the intervention package comes in, you do not need to translate materials. Similarly, you can substitute a literature review or rapid qualitative assessment with a wide variety of stakeholder interviews, particularly in areas where the context is already well understood. In some cases, you may choose to repeat components, for example doing multiple rounds of adaptation and re-evaluation with stakeholders for complex media (see Box 3.1. Adapting self-help interventions) or when indicated after pilot testing.

Ultimately, the time and effort given to adaptation will affect the impact and uptake of the intervention so even in low-resource settings, you should aim to do all components.

Documenting changes is a cross-cutting component that should be done continuously, throughout the adaptation process. You can use an existing adaptation monitoring form to document changes (see Annex 3 for an example) or you can create a new one. Either way, as a minimum, the form should, for each adaptation, record information on:

 which part of the intervention is being adapted (e.g. an exercise, illustration, text of storybook or training materials); FIG. 3.3

- what the problem with the source content is (e.g. an example is not understood) and how this problem was identified (e.g. user-testing);
- what the recommended adaptation is (e.g. change an example or term to something that is locally familiar); and
- what supports the decision to make an adaptation (e.g. it is not accurate, understandable, acceptable or relevant).



3.2.1 Review literature

Activities. Review the literature – both peer-reviewed and grey – to:

- summarize information on the prevailing norms, attitudes, beliefs and behaviours around mental health (e.g. idioms of distress, explanatory models, help-seeking) for the setting and target population; and
- identify other relevant background information on mental health conditions and services.

Methods. Desk-based search for, and analysis of, locally relevant quantitative or qualitative information on mental health and mental health care.

Notes. These data may already have been collected as part of a situation analysis (see section 2.1 Identify local mental health needs and capacities). Do a regional review if you plan to implement the intervention for a specific region of a country; if you plan to implement it nationally, do a national review.

3.2.2 Do a rapid qualitative assessment

Activities. Gather information about local mental health conditions and concerns, specifically from local stakeholders, to better understand how communities perceive constructs relevant to the intervention being adapted.

Methods. Focus group discussions, free listing interviews, key informant interviews (29).

Notes. These data may already have been collected as part of a literature review (see section 3.2.1 Review literature). Rapid qualitative assessment can have the added benefit of creating awareness of the intervention among the target population and building the trust and buy-in of local communities. Engage diverse local stakeholders to cover the full range of perspectives, including mental health service users, local mental health professionals, local health care workers and community leaders and representatives. You can also get information for adaptation by consulting local mental health professionals and medical anthropologists familiar with the context.

3.2.3 Translation and expert read-through

Activities. Translate the original intervention package into the target language. Document any items that were not literally translated and any resulting changes made to the content. Conduct an expert read-through of the materials to identify initial adaptations (e.g. suggesting changes in language and content to fit into the local context, without changing the active ingredients).

Methods. Full translation of all materials, followed by a one-day read-through workshop for experts (including a bilingual mental health professional).

Notes. One objective of the read through is to gain perspectives from people experienced in delivering similar psychological interventions. It is especially important to find the best translation possible of mental health terms (e.g. "suicidal thoughts" or "feeling sad"). Language describing emotions can be particularly difficult to translate, especially metaphors (e.g. "feeling empty", "feeling blue", "feeling down"). The translation should not only be accurate and understandable but also be acceptable. You want to avoid stigmatizing terminology that might keep potential beneficiaries away. Slang and derogatory terminology for mental health concerns can be a major deterrent to participation in care.

Maintain tone in translated materials and use informal language that is warm, friendly and easy to understand in materials designed directly for service users, such as handouts and audio-recorded relaxation exercises.

Pay special attention to sample dialogues and scripts: their translation should reflect simple, culturally appropriate spoken language. In some cases, this may mean translating the dialogues or scripts into a local language or dialect that does not exist in written form. Always check the accuracy of translated dialogues through blind back translation.

Doing translation iteratively – e.g. translating key terms or small sections of content, checking these with stakeholders and then translating further sections – can help save resources by reducing the need for re-translations later on (see also Box 3.1. Adapting self-help interventions).

Some psychological intervention manuals include copyrighted questionnaires, such as the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) or the WHO Disability Assessment Schedule (WHODAS). Always get permission of the copyright owner before translating and reproducing these materials; it is also worth checking whether the questionnaires have already been translated and validated. Procedures for translating and validating questionnaires are beyond the scope of this manual.

3.2.4 Review materials with stakeholders

Activities. Evaluate the materials with local stakeholders (including community members, service users and providers) to gather feedback on meaning, understanding, relevance, and acceptability of content. Test parts of the translated intervention with future trainers and providers. Use the information gathered to identify any further changes required to adapt the intervention to the local context.

Methods. Cognitive interviews and short practice training sessions with future providers.

Notes. Cognitive interviewing is a technique used to evaluate survey questions (*30*). But it has also proved useful for developing and adapting psychological interventions (*31*, *32*). During a cognitive interview, people listen to, read or look at specific materials and are asked questions such as "How do you understand this content?", "What relevance does it have to you and your community?", or "Is it offensive in any way?". Cognitive interviews can be conducted in a group or individually.

Including practice training and sessions for providers is important because it is easier for providers to comment on materials if they have had experience using them. Use the adapted materials during the practice training and include mock sessions (using pretend service users). Practice trainings can cover all adapted materials or just some of them. Evaluate the materials afterwards with both trainees and mock service users, either through individual interviews or group sessions.

3.2.5 Agree on adaptations

Activities. Review all potential adaptations, decide which ones will be made, and finalize a draft adapted intervention package. Document all adaptations in a systematic way.

Methods. One-day workshop for members of the adaptation team to review adaptations, followed by editorial changes to the translated materials. Where needed, do a blind back translation (where a different translator re-translates the content from the target language back to the source language).

Notes. In deciding and implementing adaptations it is not enough to just state what will be adapted. You should also specify exactly why and how it should be adapted. Table 3.1 gives examples of correct and incorrect adaptations.

3.2.6 Re-evaluate, test in training and pilot the adapted intervention

Activities. Once an adapted manual is available for use, you can choose to do another round of evaluation by stakeholders (and a subsequent round of agreeing adaptations) if resources allow (see sections 3.2.4 and 3.2.5). Otherwise, start testing the adapted intervention package. Train providers in how to use the adapted intervention, then pilot test it with a small number of service users before refining the adaptation based on feedback received.

Methods. Full training for providers (including practice cases under close supervision) and interviews with providers, supervisors and service users after practice cases. This can be followed by further revisions then a pilot or small-scale implementation and even further revisions if required.

Notes. Use evaluations and feedback forms to gather qualitative data from providers, supervisors and service users on the clarity, relevance and acceptability of the intervention

throughout re-evaluation, testing and pilot implementation. All these insights help inform further suggestions for adaptations and refinements of the intervention package.

TABLE 3.1

Examples of correct and incorrect adaptations to psychological interventions.

COMPONENT TO BE ADAPTED	CORRECT ADAPTATION	INCORRECT ADAPTATION
Slow breathing (for stress management)	Replace the breathing exercise with another effective relaxation exercise such as progressive muscle relaxation or mindfulness meditation.	Replace the breathing exercise with an exercise that has not proven to have an equivalent relaxing effect such as watching television, listening to music, drinking alcohol, smoking etc.
Behavioural activation	Change any metaphors used to explain behavioural activation to be more relevant.	Delete explanation of why behavioural activation works. Change the protocol to only include pleasant or task-oriented activities (protocols should include both).
Problem solving	Change how problem-solving is explained or break problem-solving steps down to make them easier to understand.	Delete or skip problem-solving steps from the protocol. Change the strategy to be used for unsolvable problems.
Seeking social support	Choose locally relevant examples of seeking social support. Add an illustration to show different types of social support.	Leave out guidance about seeking different types of social support.
Case examples	Change the names and activities in case examples to be more relevant in the local context.	Change the case examples in such a way that it is no longer clear how the intervention had an impact. Limit case examples to members of the majority social group.
Illustrations	Show local people in local clothing, homes and community settings.	Delete all illustrations.
Suicide risk management	List locally available referral options for people at imminent risk of suicide.	Remove any suicide risk assessment because it is considered culturally insensitive.



Workforce

O-m KEY MESSAGES

- Select providers based on attitudes, personal characteristics (e.g. compassion), knowledge, skills and experience (e.g. in helping roles) in the community.
- Equip providers with the right skills through competency-based training.
- Ensure ongoing supportive supervision from appropriately experienced people to build providers' confidence and competence, promote safe and ethical practice, provide support for challenging cases and encourage providers' self-care.
- Use regular assessments of fidelity, competency and attendance throughout training and in supervision to assure quality of care.

The main resource required to deliver psychological interventions is people, so developing a competent and confident workforce is key. The groups of workers that will provide the intervention should have been identified during planning (see section 2.6 Identify human resource needs).

In many cases, especially in LMICs, these providers will likely be non-specialists. It is

important to ensure they are properly trained, regularly assessed for competency when they start delivering interventions, and continually supervised and supported throughout the time they provide interventions. The need for quality training, supervision and support of non-specialist providers is often underestimated.

4.1 Choose the workforce

Providers, trainers and supervisors require different levels of knowledge, skills and experience. In many cases, the planned psychological interventions will be delivered by a limited group of existing staff in a service, and it will be clear exactly who will do what. In other cases, the workforce for psychological interventions will need to be developed by carefully choosing specific people from existing personnel to serve as providers, trainers or supervisors; or by recruiting new workers.

4.1.1 Choosing providers

Providers need to be motivated, compassionate and have various other attitudes, skills and experience to help them excel in their role (see Table 4.1). Some attitudes are harder to change through training than others so it can be useful to evaluate these during the selection process. One way of doing that is to present candidates with case studies and role plays during their interview and observe their reactions and suggested responses.

Providers need a range of foundational) helping skills (also known as basic helping skills) as well as technique-specific skills to deliver the psychological intervention. It is not essential for people to have prior experience as a provider, as helping skills are teachable (see section 4.2.1 Competency-based training). Nonetheless, it is preferable to choose people with demonstrated foundational helping skills.



COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

A broad range of community providers (e.g. community workers, volunteers, people with lived experience of mental health conditions, and university graduates in psychology without clinical training) can be trained and supervised to effectively provide psychological interventions (2). These providers may vary substantially by setting. They are often more acceptable and approachable to service users because they tend to share or have deeper knowledge of local attitudes, customs and languages.

Community providers are well-placed to reach out and discuss mental health and psychological interventions with fellow community members. They can help inform and involve community members in planning the psychological interventions (see Chapter 2). Community providers can help identify people with mental health conditions, provide them with care, and connect them to relevant services and resources in the community.

TABLE 4.1

Examples of preferred attitudes, skills and experience to look for when choosing providers of psychological interventions.

AREA OF EXPERTISE EXAMPLES

Attitudes and personal characteristics	 Motivation to help others. Sense of compassion. Being non-judgemental, especially towards vulnerable individuals.^a Being trustworthy and reliable. Being mature, insightful, and self-motivated. Being currently emotionally stable (note that a history of lived experience of a mental health condition can be an asset).
Knowledge and skills	 Education requirements (e.g. completion of a specified number of years of schooling). Foundational helping skills. Organizational skills. Knowledge of the local context. Relevant language skills for training and service provision. Group leadership and facilitation skills (only for group interventions).
Experience	 No history of perpetrating violence, exploitation or abuse. Previous experience in providing psychological interventions or other psychosocial support. Previous experience with, current links to, and standing in, the local community. Previous experience in working with adolescents and children (for interventions with adolescents and children).

^a Including anyone who may be vulnerable or marginalized because of their: ethnicity or nationality, gender, mental health conditions, substance use, exposure to sexual violence or intimate partner violence, child abuse, poverty, disability, sexual orientation or gender identity, legal status (e.g. refugee status), political affiliation, or history of having perpetrated violence or crime, among other things.

It is also important to consider a potential provider's experience with the community and whether this will have any impact on the target population's readiness to receive help from them. For example, in some contexts it might not be seen as appropriate for male providers to see female participants.

4.1.2 Choosing trainers and supervisors

Trainers and supervisors are often the same individuals. Both need substantially more mental health knowledge and skills than providers. But the level of expertise required will vary depending on the intervention and the model of training and supervision used (see section 4.2.2. Training model and structure).

Trainers and supervisors should have the same inherent attitudes and personal characteristics as those identified for providers (see Table 4.1). They should also have:

- mental health care provision skills and experience;
- relevant administrative skills, including record-keeping, follow-up and referral;
- good facilitation and problem-solving skills;
- enthusiasm for, interest in and commitment to training and supervision; and
- availability to provide support and supervision (33).

The best trainers and supervisors are enthusiastic, empathetic, interested, accessible and skilled. They are also competent providers. They are eager to mentor and support less experienced workers. They understand and value different training and supervisory techniques. They have a good understanding of mental health and experience in providing care. Ideally, they have experience with the chosen psychological intervention manual, or at least the type of psychological treatment (e.g. CBT, IPT) on which the intervention is based. In settings where no mental health specialists are available, non-specialists that are trained and experienced in assessing and caring for mental health conditions (for example through long-term work delivering psychological interventions) may fill the role of supervisor or trainer, although these providers will then also need some level of supervision (33).

4.1.3 Other points to consider

Intervention-specific criteria. Check whether the psychological intervention comes with specific criteria for providers, trainers and supervisors. For example, the WHO Group IPT intervention manual states that trainers and supervisors must have received Group IPT training and completed at least three groups under supervision (*34*).

Selection process. In addition to specifying criteria for selection, think about how the selection process for providers, trainers and supervisors will work in practice. For example: who will be involved? How and where will the position be advertised? Will there be an interview involving case examples and role plays?

Existing workloads and availability. The existing workloads of potential trainers and supervisors is usually very high. In all cases, before appointing providers, supervisors or trainers, consider the other demands on their time and whether these will interfere with their prospective role. It is also important to make sure that providers are clear on the time expectations and commitment involved in their role. Check that providers plan to be available for training and for ongoing service delivery (to minimize staff turnover). Identify any reasons they may not be able to carry out this work over the expected timeframe for implementation.

Primary health care settings. In primary health care settings, beware selecting general health workers with physical health care responsibilities (e.g. general physicians) as providers of time-consuming interventions. These workers typically do not have time to deliver psychological interventions if these involve multiple sessions that may last up to an hour or more. Instead, consider selecting workers who can dedicate their time to offering the intervention. Depending on the context, these may be mental health specialists, care managers, or community providers.

Managing expectations. Before they commit to the role of provider, people must understand what will be expected of them before, during, and after the training. Clearly communicate the required time commitments and any financial compensation to all prospective providers and make sure they are well understood.

4.2 Train the workforce

Training is used to equip the workforce with the competencies they need to deliver psychological interventions safely and effectively. Competency has been defined as the observable ability of a person, integrating knowledge, skills and attitudes in their performance of tasks. Competencies are durable, trainable and, through the expression of behaviours, measurable (*35*). Supervisors and trainers also need training, especially if they are non-specialists themselves.

Many psychological intervention packages come with training materials.

4.2.1 Competency-based training

WHO promotes a competency-based training and education of health care providers (*36*). Providers of psychological interventions need two types of competencies to do their job. Foundational helping skills are generally applicable to all interventions and typically include building a warm and trustworthy relationship with the person receiving the intervention. They also include, for example, building rapport, using verbal and non-verbal communication skills, demonstrating genuineness, protecting confidentiality, and ensuring non-discrimination and inclusion.

As well as foundational helping skills, providers will typically also need technique-specific skills, which may include problem solving, cognitive or motivational enhancement techniques among others, depending on which psychological intervention is being implemented. They may require additional competencies if they are delivering the intervention to individual adults, children or families, or to a group.

For supervisors, other areas for training may include how to deliver constructive feedback, how to manage challenging situations when treating people, and how to manage any context-specific issues.

Ensuring Quality in Psychological Support (EQUIP) is a WHO initiative that supports competency-based training and assessment (*37*). It includes a range of competency assessment tools that cover both:

 foundational helping skills for working with adults (ENACT) or children and adolescents (WeACT) or for facilitating groups (GroupACT); and technique-specific skills, including in behavioural activation, cognitive behavioural therapy, interpersonal techniques, motivational enhancement, problem solving, and stress management.

Competencies for providing psychological interventions can be assessed by measuring providers' attitudes and knowledge as well as, importantly, their ability to perform required skills in controlled or real-world settings as measured using competency assessment tools. This can be achieved in different ways, including:

- structured role plays that allow for providers' skills and behaviours to be measured in a pretend session; and
- direct observation during live or recorded sessions with real people receiving the intervention to measure how well providers perform skills after training.

A key feature of EQUIP and other competency-based training is to assess and provide feedback on skills and competencies before, during and after training. Doing a baseline competency assessment at the start of training can help ensure that the training is pitched at the right level to meet trainees' needs. Regular assessments throughout training (and beyond) enable trainers and supervisors to chart progress in skill development over time, identify strengths and weaknesses in performance and customize training and supervision to fill gaps in skills and knowledge.

EQUIP assessments have been developed specifically for use with non-specialists. They are a critical ingredient of quality assurance (see section 4.3.3. Assure quality of service provision). They can also be complemented by additional tests for measuring knowledge and attitudes.

EQUIP-based training has been proven to reduce harmful behaviours and increase competencies of trainees compared with conventional training methods (*38*).

4.2.2 Training model and structure

Training of non-specialist providers can be given in many ways.

- **Pre-service education** (also known as pre-qualification training): training in psychological interventions is integrated into the teaching curricula of formal education programmes for future professionals.
- In-service training: individuals who are already in the workforce are trained to provide psychological interventions.
- **Apprenticeship training:** apprentice providers and supervisors are given some initial training in psychological interventions, followed by on-the-job support to apply and expand their knowledge and skills through supervision, coaching and mutual problem solving (*39*). This can happen both in pre-service and in in-service settings.
- **Training of trainers:** expert trainers (often referred to as master trainers) teach the psychological intervention to a group of locally-based future trainers, who then train providers in either pre-service or in-service settings (see Fig. 4.1).

The training of trainers model (also called a cascade model training) is popular for training non-specialist providers in LMICs. It is ideally led by expert trainers who know the interventions very well, have implemented the intervention themselves and have experience in training psychological interventions. In low-resource settings, this model has also been applied to supervision, where an expert supervisor is appointed to supervise a group of local supervisors who in turn supervise individual providers.

FIG. 4.1 Components of the training of trainers model (which can also be applied to supervision)



Each model of training should use a range of training techniques, such as instruction, demonstration, discussion and reflection. Practising the intervention through role-play, both in the classroom and out of it, is particularly important to build providers confidence and competence. The classroom training will need to include being trained in the intervention protocol, but also information about mental health problems, foundational helping skills, and the rationale for each of the strategies used in the intervention. After classroom training, providers need in-field training in the form of practice cases. Supervised practice strengthens helpers' knowledge of and skills in an intervention and is essential to build the necessary confidence. Trained providers should receive ongoing support through supervision and their performance should be regularly monitored and evaluated (see sections 4.3 Supervise providers).

Whichever model of training is used, consideration will need to be given to how the training is structured and resourced; and how the impact of training will be measured.

Most psychological intervention packages include example timetables for training, based on what has proven effective in research studies. These may need to be modified for the setting or to match different levels of existing knowledge and skills. Following up with periodic refresher training can be useful, especially when informed by competency assessments that can identify gaps in knowledge and competence.

Where and when the training takes place can impact whether trainees are able to attend. Questions to think about include: will the training be done face-to-face or remotely? Is the training location easy and affordable to get to? Will trainees need to take time out of work to attend? Does the location have the space and infrastructure necessary to complete all components of training?

4.3 Supervise the workforce

Supportive supervision (also called clinical supervision) is required to ensure providers use their learning to provide quality interventions. It is also an opportunity for providers to continue developing and refining their skills.

Organizing supportive supervision is not an option. In the apprenticeship model of supervision, local supervisors are themselves supervised by an expert supervisor (*39*).

4.3.1 Components of supervision

Supervision builds providers' confidence and competence in delivering the intervention. It helps ensure providers adhere to the psychological intervention and provides technical support for, and ethical oversight of, challenging clinical cases. Supervision also serves to protect and promote providers' well-being by providing emotional support and encouragement (but it should never be a replacement for mental health care). Non-specialists with little to no experience in mental health care may find it particularly stressful to deal with the distressing topics raised.

Key activities undertaken during supervision include (see Fig. 4.2):

• Intervention support, for example working together to solve problems in providing the intervention. This type of support may also include discussing specific cases to aid decision-making, especially on how to address issues such as imminent risk of harm and when to refer to a mental health specialist service or other support.

- Skills development, for example through teaching, coaching and support for independent learning so that providers can grow and develop their competencies and improve service delivery. Enabling opportunities for development can also boost job satisfaction and improve staff retention.
- **Quality assurance**, specifically by evaluating how the intervention is provided and assessing competence (see section 4.3.3. Assure quality of service provision).
- Ethical practice, which potentially spans a wide range of issues, including limits to confidentiality, and not requesting or accepting personal favours.
- **Emotional support**, for example supporting providers to recognize and manage their own reactions and stressors and, where necessary, referring them to external services and supports.

FIG. 4.2



Key components of supportive supervision.

The overall aim of supervision should be to support rather than police providers. It should offer a safe, confidential and collaborative space where providers can openly discuss their difficulties and be recognized for their successes; and where they can work with their supervisors to share experiences, solve problems and improve performance (40). It should provide a neutral and non-judgemental space where providers can learn to recognize and challenge any bias, stigma or prejudice relevant to their work (40).

Supportive supervision is not the place for unhelpful or overly critical feedback. Neither is it the place to deal with managerial issues such as time off, pay or disciplinary actions. And it should not be the place where providers go to receive extensive personal counselling or advice on personal issues unrelated to work. Sometimes the person providing supportive supervision will also be the provider's line manager. In these cases it is important to ensure that supervision and management issues are kept separate.

4.3.2 Supervision format

Supervision can be delivered in many formats, for example as individual or group sessions that may or may not include direct observation (see Table 4.2). In some cases, providers come together as a group without a supervisor to support each other in mutual learning. Experience shows that with additional training and experience, non-specialist peer-led supervision is also possible (41).

TABLE 4.2Examples of different formats for delivering supervision.

FORMAT KEY CHARACTERISTICS		
Individual supervision	 One-to-one meeting between supervisor and provider. Activities are tailored to the individual and may include discussing specific tools, techniques and issues about the intervention as well as role-play, case presentation, progress review, skill development activities, reflection and self-care. Particularly useful for helping new providers to consolidate their skills and to support them with difficult cases. 	
Group supervision	 A supervisor meets two or more providers at once. Activities vary depending on the group composition but, like individual supervision, may include discussions about specific concerns, role-play, case presentation, skill development activities and self-care. Particularly useful to foster group learning and peer support. Can be less personal and more challenging to manage in terms of confidentiality and power dynamics. 	
Direct observation	 A supervisor directly observes a provider deliver the intervention and gives constructive feedback on what worked well and what could be improved. Can be used alongside individual and group formats. Supervisors will observe the provider's attitudes as well as their techn implementation of the intervention. Particularly useful for ensuring intervention fidelity, and for supportin trainees as they begin to see service users. Requires consent from providers and service users. 	

Source: Adapted from IFRC 2021 (40).

Decisions about which format to use should be based on local context, resources and need. For example, some first-time providers may benefit from group sessions where they can share experiences with peers, receive encouragement from the group and gain confidence in the process. On the other hand, some first-time providers may be better served through individual sessions where they have more time to review their own cases and discuss specific issues.

If resources are limited it may be most costeffective for supervisors to meet multiple providers at once in a group session over the internet. Additional opportunities for communication (e.g. through messaging platforms) outside of organized meetings can also be helpful to providers; these should have processes in place to ensure confidentiality (e.g. not using identifying information).

4.3.3 Assure quality of service provision

Quality assurance is about making sure that psychological interventions are delivered safely and effectively. It is an ongoing process of systematic assessment that starts during training and continues through supervision, often declining in frequency over time. It can involve assessment of three indicators (42):

- Attendance: the extent to which the individual turns up to sessions to receive the psychological intervention (a high dropout rate from a multi-session intervention can indicate a problem in how the intervention is being delivered).
- Fidelity (or adherence): the extent to which the psychological intervention delivered by a provider matches the intervention manual.
- **Competence:** the extent to which the provider can perform required competencies and activities to a defined standard.

Assessment of all three indicators is required to assure quality of care. For example, a provider can be very competent but if they do not sufficiently adhere to the intervention manual then the positive outcomes associated with the intervention cannot be assumed. Yet even if a provider adheres to the techniques described in the intervention manual, if they are not sufficiently competent then positive outcomes again cannot be assumed. And if the provider is competent and demonstrates good fidelity, the person receiving the psychological intervention can only benefit if they consistently participate in care.

Fidelity can be assessed during training and supervision through observation and feedback on practice or real cases. The trainer or supervisor observes the provider deliver an intervention and assesses the extent to which providers follow the intervention protocols, especially around the therapeutic components. Some intervention packages come with specific fidelity checklists (43).

Competency can similarly be assessed during training and supervision, also through structured role plays or direct observation, for example using EQUIP (see section 4.2.1 Competency-based training) (37).

Attendance can be assessed through attendance records, which are often included in programmatic monitoring and evaluation (see Chapter 6 Monitoring and evaluation).

4.3.4 Points to consider

Roles and responsibilities. Managing expectations is particularly important when trying to establish supportive supervision. Develop clear job descriptions for both supervisors and providers that ensure sufficient and protected time for supervision. It may be useful to establish a supervision agreement with information on roles, responsibilities, boundaries, limits to confidentiality, and availability outside supervision sessions.

Location. In-person supervision is preferable but not always possible. It should be provided in a quiet, private space at a convenient location for both supervisor and provider, using a standard structure for each supervision session. See Annex 2 for additional points to consider if training or supervision is being done remotely.

Frequency. Supervision sessions should take place regularly. Typically, this means every one or two weeks, depending on context and need. Some intervention packages include recommendations on frequency and duration of supervision. In general, the supervision needs of psychological intervention providers will decline with experience. But all providers may at times require extra support when there is a particularly challenging or complex case. So, for example, you may need to develop protocols for contacting supervisors when a service user appears at imminent risk of harm (see Chapter 5).

Tools. Think about what tools and materials supervisors and providers may need to support their work. For example, consent forms are required for any direct observation recordings (video or audio), which are commonly used in pre-service training. These recordings can themselves be a valuable tool for reflective learning if watched together during supervision. Supervision forms can help provide a framework for providing consistent feedback and monitoring progress (see Annex 4 for an example supervision form). Additional support. Consider what additional support providers may need beyond supportive supervision, especially to resolve administrative problems in implementing the psychological intervention. Such support may include, for example: helping to file records; sorting out transportation issues; nurturing a positive team dynamic; addressing interpersonal issues; or fixing any logistical problems with delivering an intervention.

Identification, assessment and delivery

O-m KEY MESSAGES

- Consider which approaches to use to identify potential beneficiaries of psychological interventions.
- Assess people before initiating psychological interventions.
- Informed by assessments, refer people as necessary to the services and supports they need, including beyond the health sector.
- Ensure there are protocols to assess and manage imminent risk of harm (to service users or others), including violence against children and gender-based violence.
- Ensure follow-up care for people who drop out of psychological care or have not improved by the end of the intervention.

Psychological interventions should be part of services within a wider health and social care system that includes pathways to refer people between mental health, health, protection and community services.

This chapter focuses on how to maximize the uptake of psychological interventions by ensuring a system that can successfully identify, treat and follow up potential beneficiaries, and refer people to other relevant services and supports when the available psychological intervention is not suitable or not enough. There are lots of reasons why an individual may be reluctant or unable to seek help or attend a psychological intervention, even if these are available. Barriers to demand for care may be attitudinal or structural and include factors such as high cost, poor quality and limited accessibility, low levels of health literacy about mental health and available services, or poor previous experiences with seeking help (2). Addressing these issues is beyond the scope of this manual. Yet, being aware of these barriers and integrating activities to tackle these barriers will increase the uptake of the intervention.

5.1 Identify and reach potential beneficiaries

During planning, the implementation team identified the target population that should be offered psychological interventions (see section 2.1 Identify local mental health needs and capacities). Before delivering psychological interventions you will need to identify the specific individuals who could potentially benefit from receiving them (i.e. case detection). There are many ways to do this; all essentially involve some form of case detection through initial assessment or screening.

5.1.1 Case detection

Case detection for mental health conditions can be passive or active. Passive case detection waits for potential beneficiaries to present with symptoms of a mental health condition at a service. They are then assessed by trained staff who may identify a mental health condition. By contrast, active case detection methods involve proactive searching for potential beneficiaries among higher-risk individuals and groups. Different approaches to case detection are summarized below. **Routine clinical assessment.** In this method, health care providers are trained to identify people with mental health conditions during routine service delivery, based on the individual's self-reported symptoms. This type of case detection requires providers to have sufficient knowledge and skills to spot and assess common presentations of mental health conditions. This is often referred to as opportunistic screening.

Education such as mhGAP training can help general health workers build the competencies they need for case detection during routine clinical assessment (see Box 5.1 Nepal: case detection gains through training). But training is often not enough to ensure that most cases get detected.

Identification in the community. This involves increasing the capacity of community workers to identify people with mental health conditions and inform them about psychological interventions. Community providers, including most social care providers and educational personnel typically do not diagnose people but they are well placed to refer people about whom they are concerned.

Awareness raising through, for example, a community event about mental health and mental health care can be a first step towards identification in the community. Training communities in using specific case detection tools can also substantially improve case identification (see Box 5.2 CIDT: a case detection tool for communities).

Online self-screening. This can involve advertising a psychological intervention online alongside a list of common symptoms with a link to an appropriate screening measure. People who identify with the listed symptoms can choose to complete the screening measure online; anyone scoring above a pre-set cut off value then automatically receives access to the intervention or a referral for further assessment if needed.

Selective screening. In this method, groups of people that are at higher risk of experiencing mental health conditions are systematically screened. Examples of this approach include: screening women for depression when they receive antenatal care or if they attend a women's shelter; screening people for depression and anxiety if they have a chronic medical condition, such as HIV or diabetes (see Box 5.3 Selective screening in South Africa); or screening people for depression if they recently lost employment.

BOX 5.1

Nepal: case detection gains through training

In Nepal, as part of a broader district plan to improve mental health care, the Programme for Improving Mental Health Care (PRIME) trained primary health care workers to detect, assess and manage priority mental health conditions using the mhGAP intervention guide. The project also included a community detection approach (see Box 5.2 CIDT: a case detection tool for communities).

Analyses of case detection in health facilities during and after the project showed that detection rates for depression improved somewhat (from 9% to 25%) six months after training and remained relatively stable for the next two years.

BOX 5.2 **CIDT: a case detection tool for communities**

The Community Informant Detection Tool (CIDT) is a vignette- and picture-based tool for active case detection by trusted lay members of the community.

Because the tool uses recognizable symptom presentations based on vignettes rather than a structured questionnaire, it is easy to use and can be easily integrated into people's daily work. In practice, whenever community workers identify someone with symptoms of mental health conditions as described in the vignettes, they will ask them whether their symptoms cause them any problems in functioning and whether they would like support. Answering positively to either of these questions would prompt the community informant to encourage the person to seek care.

Using CIDT for adults in Nepal led to an increase of nearly 50% in the number of people starting mental health care compared with general awareness raising and self-referral.

There is also a version of the CIDT for children and adolescents.

Source: Jordans et al, 2020 (45); van den Broek M et al, 2021 (46).

BOX 5.3 Selective screening in South Africa

In KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa, the Department of Health developed a standard operating procedure for selective screening in primary health care clinics as part of its efforts to identify early and treat common mental health conditions among people with chronic medical conditions.

Enrolled nurses were tasked with screening for mental health conditions (alongside other chronic diseases) using a validated tool. A cascade training model was then used to introduce this approach into all primary health care facilities in the province. Data monitoring across KwaZulu-Natal revealed an overall increase in mental health screening which has helped motivate additional specialist posts. Based on initial experience, the screening protocol was changed to ensure more privacy during screening, which had proved a bottleneck to engagement in the original protocol, given the sensitive nature of responses to the screening questions.

Source: Bhana MA et al; 2019 (47).

Never presume that a person needs a psychological intervention just because they have had a difficult life experience or have a physical health condition such as HIV. Only if the screening is positive is the person a potential beneficiary. Even then, it is important to refer them for further assessment to decide whether they need the psychological intervention and are willing and able to receive it.

Universal screening. In this method everyone living in a certain area or attending a certain service (e.g. a primary health clinic) is invited to complete an appropriate screening measure. Those who score above a pre-set cut off value are then offered further assessment. This form of screening is often used in research studies. But it is rarely used in routine services because the number of people who would screen positive for common mental health problems is extremely high, and most services – even in high-income countries – do not have the capacity to offer good enough assessment and care to all of them.

5.1.2 Points to consider

Each method and measure described above can help identify potential beneficiaries of psychological interventions. Choosing which one to use will depend on factors such as the size of the target population, the availability of resources, and the psychological intervention being implemented.

Tools and training. There are many different screening and assessment measures available to aid case detection (see Annex 5. Example

measures for screening and assessment). Any measure and pre-selected cut-off point you use should be valid for the population. Check this by looking at the evidence for the measure. If you are screening for symptoms of mental health conditions, make sure that you also consider assessing impact on functioning. Make sure that the people tasked with identifying potential beneficiaries know which tools they should use, and how to use them. In some cases this will mean providing relevant training.

Stigma. Consider whether there might be any stigma associated with the case detection methods and measures being used. This is important to ensure people are safe, comfortable, and willing to disclose any mental health problems during screening and initial assessment.

Formats. Case detection methods and measures should be relevant, and easy to use and understand, both for those doing the assessment as well as those being assessed. The format of screening and assessment tools is important. For example, if they can only be used online then they can necessarily only reach people with access to the internet.

Existing capacity. It is important to consider the workload of the people who would be doing the screening or assessment to ensure that the selected case detection method is feasible.

5.2 Assess people's needs

Once people have been identified as possibly benefiting from a psychological intervention, they should be further assessed before starting care. Assessment is an essential component of mental health care, to ensure people are getting the right support for their needs. Individuals should be assessed at the beginning of an intervention, but also throughout treatment and after it ends, to continuously monitor the individual's progress and address support needs as and when they arise.

Assessment may be done in person or remotely, by the psychological provider or by another person. It may also be possible for potential beneficiaries to do a self-assessment, as is typically the case for guided self-help.

Depending on the intervention and service, various assessment tools may be used, for example, a self-report questionnaire, a diagnostic interview or measures that focus on specific issues such as functioning and quality of life.

The choice of assessment measures is usually also guided by a monitoring and evaluation plan (see Chapter 6 Monitoring and evaluation). Assessments can be useful as a way of monitoring service users, understanding their expectations and initiating the therapeutic relationship.

Assessments can also have therapeutic value for service users if done properly.

- Completing the assessment gives the service user an opportunity to reflect on their progress, see how far they have come and think about what they still want to improve.
- Working together on assessment can improve the therapeutic relationship between service users and providers by empowering service users to participate in their care and giving them a role and measure of control in the process.

 Collecting data openly and in collaboration with service users improves trust and transparency. Service users of psychological interventions may have negative past experiences with health services and may fear or mistrust authorities. Including them in the assessment process can help mitigate some of those feelings.

During assessment, protocols for assessing and managing risk – including risk of suicide or self-harm as well as risk of harm to or from others – help keep service users safe. Some psychological intervention manuals include tools to help monitor key risks, such as imminent risk of suicide (see Annex 6 Example suicide risk form). Safety plans also help protect people from harm; these should be co-developed by providers and service users.

Providers should be trained to take immediate action if there is any concern that someone is at imminent risk of suicide or self-harm.

- A person who has a plan to end their life in the near future needs urgent care. They are typically referred to alternative sources of support, such as specialized mental health services or, when such services are not easily accessible, general health centres trained in, for example, the suicide/self-harm protocol of the mhGAP Intervention Guide.
- A person who attempts suicide at any point during the intervention will similarly need more specialized support, although they may be able to continue with the intervention if this support is available.
- A person who has thoughts about suicide but no plans to act on them can usually continue to receive the psychological intervention but will need close monitoring throughout treatment.

Concern that someone is at risk of harm from others also requires immediate action, which typically involves referring them to a relevant protection service or agency (e.g. child protection or gender-based violence services) (48, 49, 22). If at any time providers are concerned that the service user may pose an immediate risk to others, they should immediately contact relevant authorities.

5.2.1 Points to consider

Training. Non-specialists can make suitable assessors but they require training and supervision in assessment measures.

Confidentiality and consent. Maintaining a service user's confidentiality and data privacy is essential at all stages of psychological intervention, including before, during and after assessment. Assessments should be conducted in a private space, results should be shared with the potential beneficiary, and any notes and other data gathered by the assessor should be appropriately stored to protect data privacy.

Obtaining the individual's informed consent is critical before any assessment. At the same time, assessors must ensure service users understand the limits of confidentiality and consent (for example imminent risk of self-harm or suspicion of violence against children).

5.3 Refer people to the right source of support

Anyone identified as a potential beneficiary needs to be directed, through referral, to the right source of support, which may or may not be a psychological intervention (see Fig. 5.1). Referrals can happen at any point of contact with the individual and may involve multiple services alongside the psychological intervention.

FIG. 5.1

Linking people to the care they need through referrals.



Sometimes the assessor should refer the person to another service that is more suited to their needs. This should happen when the person does not meet the inclusion criteria for a psychological intervention, meets the exclusion criteria for the intervention, or requires extra support alongside the intervention.

Being able to direct people to the care they need relies on having the right referral options in place. Links to a wide range of multisectoral services should be available because people being assessed for (or receiving) psychological interventions can have complex and varied needs. Some may be at imminent risk of suicide or harm through intimate partner violence or abuse. Others may be struggling to meet basic needs for food and shelter. Some people may have mental health needs that can't be met by the psychological intervention alone. Others may benefit from the intervention but need additional help to access education or find a job. Some people may need medicines to manage a chronic health condition, such as diabetes or cardiovascular disease. Others may need legal support to address human rights issues. Referrals can happen at any point of contact with the individual. As with assessment, informed consent is required for any referrals.

Establishing or strengthening referral pathways is an essential component of integrating psychological interventions in existing services. In practice, referral pathways are limited by which services are available in the local setting (see 2.5 Identify associated services). Examples of useful tools include accessible up-to-date lists of contact details for referral services, as well as referral protocols and forms (*50*).

5.4 Follow up after treatment

Even before psychological interventions are implemented it is important to think about what will happen to the service user when treatment ends (or if they drop out). Dropping out from treatment is very common in mental health care. Try to collect information about why people drop out to understand if there is anything that can be done to improve adherence (see Chapter 6 Monitoring and evaluation).

While psychological interventions may help to substantially reduce the distress and impacts on functioning caused by a mental health condition, some people may continue to experience symptoms even after the psychological intervention ends. It is important to repeat the initial assessment or conduct another assessment to evaluate how people are doing Decisions on what happens next will depend on how well the person has responded to treatment, what level of support they still need and what resources and options are available (see Fig. 5.2)

After the assessment, there are typically three follow-up options available.

- Someone who has shown progress and is able to support themselves may be advised to continue practising strategies learned in the intervention on their own, with a follow-up session scheduled to review progress.
- Someone who has shown a little progress but could clearly benefit from continued support may be offered additional sessions to extend the intervention. For instance, a service user who has taken some time to trust the provider and begins to show improvement in later sessions may benefit from this option. In considering additional sessions, providers and supervisors will need to balance the needs of an individual with the demand from other individuals for

the service. For example, providing additional sessions to one individual may mean that someone in more need has a delay in accessing treatment. Additional sessions may be kept to a minimum. Someone who has not improved and is still struggling with severe distress or thoughts or plans of suicide requires further assessment and care. A specialist may need to be consulted. In stepped care systems, people who have not sufficiently improved by the end of a low-intensity intervention may be "stepped up" to a higher-intensity intervention.

FIG. 5.2

Typical follow up options for people who finish or drop out of a psychological intervention.





Monitoring and evaluation

O-IF KEY MESSAGES

- Use a mix of output, outcome and goal indicators to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness, acceptability, feasibility and fidelity of psychological interventions.
- Collect data continually (monitoring) and at certain points (evaluation) to inform improvements to the service integrating

psychological interventions and to prevent harm.

- → Involve all stakeholders, including from the local community, in monitoring and evaluation activities.
- → Use means of verification (MoV) that are both appropriate and feasible to collect monitoring and evaluation data.

The terms "monitoring" and "evaluation" are often used together (M&E) but they refer to separate yet related activities. Monitoring involves continuously and systematically collecting and analysing data to assess the service's progress over time and identify challenges or areas for improvement. Evaluation involves periodically assessing specific information at specific times to determine the extent to which a service has met its objectives (*51*).

This chapter focuses on the use of M&E when implementing psychological interventions outside of research studies.⁶

Including robust M&E systems and processes in services implementing psychological interventions is important to:

- ensure the intervention is not causing any harm;
- establish whether the psychological intervention is addressing the target population's mental health needs; and
- inform adaptations and quality improvement strategies for the current service and future services implementing psychological interventions.



COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

Local communities can and should be engaged at all stages of M&E: as planners, data collectors and partners for improvement.

Regular community or service user consultations can be used to monitor and evaluate the general feasibility and acceptability of the psychological intervention. Such consultations can also be useful forums for sharing M&E results on the impact of implementing psychological interventions and plans for future development.

Stakeholder advisory groups can help design and facilitate such consultations. They can also help review other data about the psychological intervention and provide suggestions for improvement.

⁶ Various frameworks can be used to monitor and evaluate programmes, depending on how the programme is designed and what the goals and intended outcomes are. This chapter mainly draws on the IASC Common Monitoring and Evaluation Framework for MHPSS (51) in humanitarian settings as this is an inter-agency, consensus-based framework that is also relevant for development settings.
The process for monitoring and evaluating the integration of psychological interventions in existing services typically comprises three major steps: make an M&E plan based on the goals of

integration; collect and analyse monitoring and/or evaluation data; and integrate findings to improve services or share lessons learned (see Fig. 6.1).

6.1 Make an M&E plan

The M&E plan identifies what needs to be monitored and evaluated, why and how. For M&E to effectively measure the impact of implementing psychological interventions, it must be carried out before, during and after implementation. An M&E plan should be developed as early as possible.

FIG. 6.1

The three phases of M&E for implementing psychological interventions.



6.1.1 Indicators and measures

The M&E plan provides a list of indicators that specify the measures of success for achieving the desired goal, outcomes and outputs of the service that has integrated psychological interventions (see Fig 6.2).

Output indicators reflect the direct results of making psychological interventions available. Example output indicators (measured over a specific time period) include:

- availability of copies of locally appropriate evidence-based intervention manual and/or self-help materials;
- referral pathway and protocol established for people who need other care beyond the psychological intervention;
- number of trained providers who deliver psychological interventions;
- number of supervision sessions per provider; and
- providers' scores on competency measures.

Outcome indicators reflect the changes in care for individuals and groups that result from making psychological interventions available. Outcome indicators (measured over a specific time period) potentially include:

- number of people who receive (at least one session of) the psychological intervention;
- session attendance rates (including drop out and completion rates);
- contact coverage, i.e. the percentage of people in a given population (e.g. in a clinic, programme or geographical area) with a specified mental health condition who receive any intervention for that condition;
- effective coverage i.e. the percentage of people in a given population (e.g. in a clinic, program or geographical area) with a specified mental health condition who complete a course (or a minimally adequate number of sessions) of an evidence-based intervention for that condition; and
- number of referrals to other services.

FIG. 6.2

Example results framework for making psychological interventions available in services.



Source: based on IASC, 2021 (51).

Goal indicators reflect the goals of offering psychological interventions to people across a defined population in a clinic, programme or geographical area. These goals often focus on reduced suffering and improved mental health and psychosocial well-being, and they are often referred to as impact indicators. Goal indicators (measured before and after the intervention is made available) potentially include:

- average reduction in distress/mental health symptoms of one (or more) mental health conditions across service users;
- number and percentage of service users reporting a clinically meaningful response (e.g. at least 50% decrease in symptoms) or remission (e.g. scoring below cut off);
- number and percentage of service users with a specific mental health condition reporting reduced symptoms;
- presence or absence of a mental health condition among service users;
- reduced prevalence of the mental health condition across service users;
- average improvement in functioning across service users;
- number and percentage of service users whose functioning improved;
- average improvement in subjective well-being across service users;
- number and percentage of service users whose subjective well-being improved; and
- number and percentage of service users who improved on personally-defined problems.

For each indicator listed in the M&E plan, the tools and/or data sources required to measure the indicator (i.e. the means of verification) should be identified (see Table 6.1). The plan should also indicate when these measures are to be used (i.e. the timing of monitoring and evaluation activities) to encourage timely M&E that is done as part of implementing integrated psychological interventions; and who will use them.

Means of verification are wide ranging. They can be for individuals, groups or whole populations. And they may be quantitative (e.g. health records, measures of clinical outcomes) or qualitative (e.g. interviews, open surveys and focus group discussions) (*51*).

Clinical information may be used to monitor services and their effectiveness, but other M&E means of verification are still needed to monitor other elements of services (e.g. quality of services, service user opinions, community acceptability or extent to which service providers receive supervision).

TABLE 6.1

Example means of verification for indicators.

EXAMPLE INDICATOR		EXAMPLE MEANS OF VERIFICATION		
Output	Number of supervision sessions per provider	Weekly supervision records		
	Percentage of providers that score competent on a competency measure	• ENACT (EQUIP) (<i>37</i>)		
Outcome	Number of people who receive the intervention	 Service use records from information systems 		
	Percentage and number of facilities with staff trained on psychological interventions	Facility records		
	Number of people that have completed intervention	Facility records		
	Level of satisfaction of people regarding the intervention they have received	Patient satisfaction questionnaire		
Goal	Improved subjective well-being	 WHO Well-being index (WHO-5) (52) Service user interviews (including focus groups) 		
	Improved functioning	• WHO Disability Assessment Schedule 2.0 (WHODAS-12) (53)		
	Decreases in personally defined problems	 Psychological Outcome Profiles (PSYCHLOPS) (54) 		
	Decreased symptoms of depression	• Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) (55)		
	Number of people with a mental health condition (eg depressive disorder)	 Score above the validated threshold for likely mental disorder on a symptom measure (eg. the PHQ-9 for depressive disorder) 		
	Number of individuals with depression reporting reduced symptoms	 Health-care facility records Patient records with relevant questionnaires Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) (55) 		

6.1.2 Points to consider

Efficiency. Plan data requirements and use with resource efficiency in mind. Can the same means of verification (e.g. service user records or interviews) be used to collect data for multiple indicators? Only collect data that will be used.

Comprehensiveness. Good M&E plans are comprehensive and integrate qualitative and quantitative methods to provide a depth of information that cannot be achieved by either method alone.

Demographic data. Include plans to collect a few demographic data to allow for deeper analyses, disaggregated by gender, age, etc.

Feasibility and acceptability. Is it feasible and acceptable to collect the intended data in the local context?

Reliability and validity. Check the extent to which each means of verification is reliable (i.e. consistently measures what it is intended to measure) in the context you want to use it. Also check whether it is a valid measure (e.g. a measure for depression). Remember that measures may need to be adapted before use (*51*).

Monitoring. Although most goal indicators are only measured before and after completing the intervention, some may be used to monitor treatment over time. For example, Group IPT starts each session with participants completing a brief

depression assessment measure (34). And each PM+ session starts with completion of a measure of personally defined problems (56). Session by session symptom monitoring to guide care is also a key aspect of the collaborative care model.

Record keeping. Consider how data will be collected, stored and protected for privacy. Will paper copies be used and input to an electronic system? Will an existing electronic health record system or other data capture tool be used? Are there data privacy or data retention laws to adhere to? During planning, outline all the processes to be used for collecting data and ensuring its safe keeping (either electronically or in paper form). Consider checking whether there are other local or national platforms that could be used to make data collection easier (especially data from assessments or case records). This may include planning for data entry, analysis and similar.

6.2 Collect and analyse data

Collect data for M&E before psychological interventions are integrated into the service (to establish a baseline) and throughout the service's provision of psychological interventions.

Depending on the indicators and means of verification chosen, data can be collected as part of routine care or as a stand-alone activity over selected periods of time.

Once data collection starts, collected data should be regularly reviewed to ensure they are complete and usable. If there are large amounts of missing data, investigate why and take action to address root causes.

6.2.1 Points to consider

Ethical considerations. When collecting and using M&E data on psychological interventions – much of which involves personal information – be considerate of ethical issues and address any concerns, especially around proper use of data, confidentiality and informed consent. Set up secure systems for storing and managing personal data if they do not exist already.

Gender and other personal characteristics. Gender-disaggregated analysis should be part of any data analysis. Depending on the context, disaggregation by other characteristics, such as age or disability status, may be beneficial for service monitoring.

6.3 Integrate findings

M&E findings can support learning, contextualisation, adaptation and accountability that can be used to drive continuous improvement and sustainability.

All M&E data, whether collected through routine care or as a separate activity, should be routinely analysed, reported and integrated through a collaborative process that involves relevant stakeholders, including local communities.

Make someone responsible for reporting. This person should be competent to analyse and interpret quantitative and qualitative data, and to draw conclusions and recommendations using participatory processes with local stakeholders. In some cases, personnel may require training in M&E, including in data collection, management, and analysis to integrate results and improve programming.

Where possible, M&E reports should identify specific problems that might ultimately compromise the quality of psychological interventions being delivered. This may include problems with the content of the psychological interventions (e.g. language or imagery) or the logistics of how they are provided (e.g. timing, location, staff, length of sessions etc). Problems may also be identified with how providers are trained or supervised.

Reports should provide concrete recommendations for addressing those problems to achieve continuous improvement (see Table 6.2).

Share M&E findings with relevant stakeholders, potentially including service managers, supervisors and providers, advocates and civil society, service users and communities. This may be a summary of monitoring results, or a time-specific evaluation report. Ensure that M&E information is presented in a way that is relevant and understandable for the target audience. This may mean reporting the same information in different ways, such as one way for professionals, another way for community providers and yet another way for people with lived experience or others in the community. Good M&E reports are excellent tools to support learning and accountability. They provide:

- transparency on the service's performance;
- a roadmap for action to improve the service;
- a real-world case to advocate for investment; and
- a wealth of data and experience for others to learn from.

TABLE 6.2

Example M&E findings of problems with the service; and recommendations for improvement.

EXAMPLE FINDING	EXAMPLE RECOMMENDATION
High dropout rates mean too many people are not completing their treatment.	 Investigate why people are not coming back for sessions and address root causes.
Attendance records show a gender disparity in people receiving treatment.	 Investigate root causes, including through community engagement. Adapt the intervention to be more relevant and acceptable to the excluded group.
Service user feedback forms show people find the sessions too long.	 Shorten the length of individual sessions without losing the key components of the intervention. Adjust session scheduling to provide shorter but more frequent sessions.
Measures of clinical outcomes do not show a decrease in symptoms of anxiety.	 Add extra sessions to the intervention that repeat previously covered coping strategies for anxiety.
Service user interviews show people are feeling isolated or socially disconnected.	 Add optional group sessions to the intervention to create opportunities for peer support and social connections. Establish links and referral pathways to social initiatives that service users can be directed to for additional support.
Fidelity and competency checks show that providers don't follow and are not competent in the treatment protocol.	 Offer refreshment training and regular supervision sessions to improve competency and fidelity to the treatment protocol. Use EQUIP (see section 4.2.1 Competency-based training) as part of supervision to improve providers competence.

References

1 GBD Results Tool. In: Global Health Data Exchange [website]. Seattle: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation; 2019 (https://ghdx.healthdata. org/gbd-2019, accessed 7 September 2022).

2 World mental health report: transforming mental health for all. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/356119, accessed 7 September 2022).

3 Singla DR, Kohrt BA, Murray LK, Anand A, Chorpita BF, Patel V. Psychological treatments for the world: lessons from low- and middle-income countries. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. 2017;13:149–181. doi:10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032816-045217.

Cuijpers P, Koole SL, van Dijke A, Roca M, Li J, Reynolds CF 3rd. Psychotherapy for subclinical depression: meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry.
2014;205(4):268–274. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.113.138784.

5 England MJ, Butler AS, Gonzalez ML (editors). Psychosocial interventions for mental and substance use disorders: a framework for establishing evidence-based standards. Washington DC: National Academies Press; 2015.

6 Furukawa TA, Shinohara K, Sahker E, Karyotaki E, Miguel C, Ciharova M, et al. Initial treatment choices to achieve sustained response in major depression: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. World Psychiatry. 2021;20(3):387–396. doi:10.1002/wps.20906.

7 Archer J, Bower P, Gilbody S, Lovell K, Richards
D, Gask L, et al. Collaborative care for depression and anxiety problems. Cochrane Database Syst Rev.
2012;10:CD006525. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD006525.pub2.

Xiao L, Qi H, Zheng W, Xiang YT, Carmody TJ, Mayes
 TL, et al. The effectiveness of enhanced evidence-based
 care for depressive disorders: a meta-analysis of
 randomized controlled trials. Transl Psychiatry.
 2021;11(1):531. doi:10.1038/s41398-021-01638-7.

9 Affengruber L, Wagner G, Dobrescu A, Toromanova A, Chapman A, Persad E, et al. Values and preferences of patients with depressive disorders regarding pharmacologic and nonpharmacologic treatments: a rapid review. Ann Intern Med. 2023;176(2):217–223. doi:10.7326/M22-1900.

10 WHO guidelines on conditions specifically related to stress. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241505406, accessed 24 July 2023).

11 IHME Global Burden of Disease Results Tool [website]. Seattle: University of Washington; 2022 (http://ghdx. healthdata.org/gbd-results-tool, accessed 16 January 2023). 12 Global Health Estimates 2019: disease burden by cause, age, sex, by country and by region, 2000–2019. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/docs/ default-source/gho-documents/global-health-estimates/ ghe2019_daly_global_2000_2019106cc197-7fec-4494-9b12-64d11150302b.xlsx?sfvrsn=ab2e645c_9).

13 Cuijpers P, Karyotaki E, Reijnders M, Huibers MJH. Who benefits from psychotherapies for adult depression? A meta-analytic update of the evidence. Cogn Behav Ther. 2018;47(2):91–106. doi:10.1080/16506073.2017.1420098.

14 Common Elements Treatment Approach (CETA) [website]. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health; 2022 (https://www.jhsph.edu/ research/centers-and-institutes/global-mental-health/ talk-therapies/common-elements-treatment-approach, accessed 12 September 2022).

15 Berryhill MB, Culmer N, Williams N, Halli-Tierney A, Betancourt A, Roberts H et al. Videoconferencing psychotherapy and depression: a systematic review. Telemed J E Health. 2019;25(6):435–446. doi:10.1089/tmj.2018.0058.

16 Consolidated telemedicine implementation guide. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/9789240059184, accessed 6 July 2023).

17 Herrman H, Patel V, Kieling C, Berk M, Buchweitz C, Cuijpers P et al. Time for united action on depression: a Lancet-World Psychiatric Association Commission. Lancet. 2022;399(10328):957-1022. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(21)02141-3.

18 Unützer U, Carlo AD, Collins PY. Leveraging collaborative care to improve access to mental health care on a global scale. World Psychiatry. 2020;19(1):36-37. doi:10.1002/wps.20696.

19 Ali MK, Chwastiak L, Poongothai S, Emmert-Fees KMF, Patel SA, Mohan Anjana R et al. Effect of a collaborative care model on depressive symptoms and glycated hemoglobin, blood pressure, and serum cholesterol among patients with depression and diabetes in India. JAMA. 2020;324(7):1–13. doi:10.1001/jama.2020.11747.

20 Wakefield S, Kellett S, Simmonds-Buckley M, Stockton D, Bradbury A, Delgadillo J. Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) in the United Kingdom: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 10 years of practice-based evidence. Br J Clin Psychol. 2021;60(1):1–37. doi:10.1111/bjc.12259.

21 mhGAP training manuals for the mhGAP intervention guide for mental, neurological and substance use disorders in non-specialized health settings, version 2.0 (for field testing). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259161, accessed 8 November 2022).

22 How to support survivors of gender-based violence when a GBV actor is not available in your area. New York: Inter-Agency Standing Committee; 2018 (https://gbvguide-lines.org/en/pocketguide/, accessed 8 November 2022).

23 Cuijpers P, Noma H, Karyotaki E, Cipriani A, Furukawa TA. Effectiveness and acceptability of cognitive behavior therapy delivery formats in adults with depression: a network meta-analysis. JAMA Psychiatry. 2019;76(7):700–707. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.0268.

24 Cuijpers P, Huibers M, Ebert DD, Koole SL, Andersson G. How much psychotheraphy is needed to treat depression? A metaregression analysis. J Affect Disord. 2013;149(1-3):1-13. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2013.02.030.

25 Comparative effectiveness of different formats of psychological treatments for depressive disorder. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://www.who.int/ teams/mental-health-and-substance-use/treatment-care/ mental-health-gap-action-programme/evidence-centre/ depression/comparative-effectiveness-of-different-formats-o f-psychological-treatments-for-depressive-dis-order, accessed 9 November 2022).

26 Cuijpers P, Heim E, Ramia JA, Burchert S, Carswell K, Cornelisz I et al. Effects of a WHO-guided digital health intervention for depression in Syrian refugees in Lebanon: a randomized controlled trial. PLoS Med. 2022;19(6):e1004025. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1004025.

27 Cuijpers P, Heim E, Ramia JA, Burchert S, Carswell K, Cornelisz I et al. Guided digital health intervention for depression in Lebanon: randomised trial. Evid Based Ment Health. 2022;ebmental-2021-300416. doi:10.1136/ebmental-2021-300416.

28 Sangraula M, Kohrt BA, Ghimire R, Shrestha P, Luitel NP, Van't Hof E, et al. Development of the mental health cultural adaptation and contextualization for implementation (mhCACI) procedure: a systematic framework to prepare evidence-based psychological interventions for scaling. Glob Ment Health (Camb). 2021;8:e6. doi:10.1017/gmh.2021.5.

29 Design, implementation, monitoring, and evaluation of mental health and psychosocial assistance programs for trauma survivors in low resource countries: a user's manual for researchers and program implementers (adult version). Module 1: qualitative assessment. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health; 2012 (http://hopkinshumanitarianhealth.org/assets/documents/ VOT_DIME_MODULE1_FINAL.PDF, accessed 11 January 2023).

30 Beatty PC, Willis GB. Research synthesis: the practice of cognitive interviewing. Public Opin Q. 2007;71(2):287–311. doi:10.1093/poq/nfm006.

31 Tol WA, Augustinavicius J, Carswell K, Brown FL, Adaku A, Leku MR, et al. Translation, adaptation, and pilot of a guided self-help intervention to reduce psychological distress in South Sudanese refugees in Uganda. Glob Ment Health (Camb). 2018;5:e25. doi:10.1017/gmh.2018.14.

32 Ramia JA, Harper Shehadeh M, Kheir W, Zoghbi E, Watts S, Heim E, et al. Community cognitive interviewing to inform local adaptations of an e-mental health intervention in Lebanon. Glob Ment Health (Camb). 2018;5:e39. doi:10.1017/gmh.2018.29.

33 2.2. Train the workforce in mhGAP. In: mhGAP operations manual: mental health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/275386)

34 Group interpersonal therapy (IPT) for depression. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www. who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-MSD-MER-16.4).

35 Mills J-A, Middleton JW, Schafer A, Fitzpatrick S, Short S, Cieza A. Proposing a re-conceptualisation of competency framework terminology for health: a scoping review. Hum Resour Health. 2020;18(1):15. doi:10.1186/s12960-019-0443-8.

36 Global competency framework for universal health coverage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240034686)

37 EQUIP: Ensuring Quality in Psychological Support [website]. Geneva: Ensuring Quality in Psychological Support; 2022 (https://equipcompetency.org/en-gb).

38 Jordans MJD, Steen F, Koppenol-Gonzalez GV, El Masri R, Coetzee AR, Chamate S, et al. Evaluation of competency-driven training for facilitators delivering a psychological intervention for children in Lebanon: a proof-of-concept study. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci. 2022;31:e48. doi:10.1017/S2045796022000348.

39 Murray LK, Dorsey S, Bolton P, Jordans MJD, Rahman A, Bass J et al. Building capacity in mental health interventions in low resource countries: an apprenticeship model for training local providers. Int J Ment Health Syst. 2011;5:30. doi:10.1186/1752-4458-5-30.

40 1. Getting started. In: Integrated model for supervision handbook. Copenhagen: International Committee of the Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies Reference Centre for Psychosocial Support; 2021 (https://pscentre.org/?resource=integ rated-model-for-supervision, accessed 20 September 2022).

41 Singla DR, Ratjen C, Krishna RN, Fuhr DC, Patel V. Peer supervision for assuring the quality of non-specialist provider delivered psychological intervention: Lessons from a trial for perinatal depression in Goa, India. Behav Res Ther. 2020 Jul;130:103533. doi:10.1016/j.brat.2019.103533.

42 Jordans MJD, Kohrt BA. Scaling up mental health care and psychosocial support in low-resource settings: a roadmap to impact. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci. 2020;29:e189. doi:10.1017/S2045796020001018

43 Annex 7. Group IPT task checklists for supervisors and facilitators. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/ resrep28022.16.pdf, accessed 3 February 2023).

44 Jordans MJD, Luitel NP, Kohrt BA, Rathod SD, Garman EC, de Silva M et al. Community-, facility-, and individual-level outcomes of a district mental healthcare plan in a low-resource setting in Nepal: a population-based evaluation. PLoS Med. 2019;16(2):e1002748. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1002748.

45 Jordans MJD, Luitel NP, Lund C, Kohrt BA. Evaluation of proactive community case detection to increase help-seeking for mental health care: a pragmatic randomized controlled trial. Psychiatr Serv. 2020;71(8):810–815. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.201900377.

46 Van den Broek M, Hegazi L, Ghazal N, Hamayel L, Barrett A, Kohrt BA, et al. Accuracy of a proactive case detection tool for internalizing and externalizing problems among children and adolescents. J Adolesc Health. 2023;72(1S):S88–S95. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2021.03.011.

47 Bhana MA, Mntambo N, Gigaba SG, Luvuno ZPB, Grant M, Ackerman D, et al. Validation of a brief mental health screening tool for common mental disorders in primary healthcare. S Afr Med J. 2019;109(4):278– 283. doi:10.7196/SAMJ.2019.v109i4.13664.

48 Health care for women subjected to intimate partner violence or sexual violence: a clinical handbook. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/136101, accessed 12 January 2023).

49 World Health Organization, United Nations Population Fund and United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. Clinical management of rape and intimate partner violence survivors: developing protocols for use in humanitarian settings. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https:// iris.who.int/handle/10665/331535, accessed 12 January 2023).

50 IASC Inter-Agency referral guidance note for mental health and psychosocial support in emergency settings, 2017. New York: Inter-Agency Standing Committee; 2017 (https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/iasc-reference-group-mental-health-an d-psychosocial-support-emergency-sett ings/iasc-inter-agency-referral-guidance-not e-mental-health-and-pyschosocial-suppor t-emergency-settings, accessed 22 September 2022). **51** Mental health and psychosocial support in emergency settings. Monitoring and evaluation with means of verification: version 2.0. Geneva: Inter-Agency Standing Committee; 2021 (https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/iasc-reference-group-mental-health-an d-psychosocial-support-emergency-settings/ iasc-common-monitoring-and-evaluation-framewor k-mental-health-and-psychosocial-support-emerg ency, accessed 16 January 2023).

52 WHO (five) well-being index (1998 version). Denmark: WHO Collaborating Center for Mental Health, Frederiksborg General Hospital; 1998 (https://app.mhpss.net/?get=393/ who-5-questionaire-english.pdf, accessed 24 July 2023).

53 Measuring health and disability: manual for WHO Disability Assessment Schedule 2.0 (WHODAS 2.0). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/measuring-health-and-disability-manual-fo r-who-disability-assessment-schedule-(-wh odas-2.0), accessed 24 July 2023).

54 PSYCHLOPS: psychological outcome profiles [website]. London: PSYCHLOPS; 2023 (http://www. psychlops.org.uk/, accessed 24 July 2023).

55 Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med. 2001;16(9):606–613. doi:10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x.

56 Problem management plus (PM+): individual psychological help for adults impaired by distress in communities exposed to adversity. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/WHO-MSD-MER-18.5, accessed 6 July 2023).

Further reading

A chapter-by-chapter list of resources.

Chapter 1. Introduction

• mhGAP operations manual. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.

Chapter 2. Planning

- Assessing mental health and psychosocial needs and resources: toolkit for humanitarian settings. Geneva: World Health Organization and United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees; 2012.
- Cochrane reviews/Common mental disorders [website]. London: Cochrane; 2022.
- Conduct a situation analysis. In: mhGAP operations manual. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.
- METAPSY: Meta-analytic database of psychotherapy trials [website]. Amsterdam: Vrije Universiteit, 2022.
- mhGAP evidence resource centre [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022.
- NICE guidelines on mental health and wellbeing [website]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2022.

Chapter 3. Adaptation

- Mental Health Innovation Network (MHIN) [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization and London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine; 2022.
- The DIME program research model: Design, Implementation, Monitoring and Evaluation.
 Baltimore: John Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health; 2013.
- Tools 9–12. Desk review and participatory assessment. In: Assessing mental health and

psychosocial needs and resources: toolkit for humanitarian settings. Geneva: World Health Organization and United Nations Refugee Agency; 2012

Chapter 4. Workforce

- Integrated model of supervision handbook.
 Copenhagen: International Committee of the Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies Reference Centre for Psychosocial Support; 2021.
- Resources. In: Ensuring Quality in Psychological Support (EQUIP) [website] Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- mhGAP operations manual. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.
- Scaling up care for mental, neurological, and substance use disorders: mhGAP. In: WHO [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023.

Chapter 5. Identification, assessment and delivery

- Assessing mental health and psychosocial needs and resources: toolkit for humanitarian settings. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012.
- Coordinate care pathways. In: mhGAP operations manual. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.
- mhGAP intervention guide for mental, neurological and substance use disorders in non-specialized health settings (mhGAP 2.0). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- Referral form. In: mhGAP operations manual: Annex A.8. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.
- Toolkit for the integration of mental health into general healthcare in humanitarian settings. Los Angeles: International Medical Corps.

Chapter 6. Monitoring and evaluation

- The DIME program research model: Design, Implementation, Monitoring and Evaluation.
 Baltimore: John Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health; 2013.
- IASC MHPSS M&E framework MOV toolkit [website]. New York: Inter-Agency Standing Committee; 2022.



Annex 1. Checklist for implementing psychological interventions

IMPLEMENTING PSYCHOLOGICAL INTERVENTIONS: KEY ACTIVITY CHECKLIST

Develop an implementation plan

- □ Appoint a multistakeholder implementation team with clear roles and responsibilities.
- □ Identify local mental health needs and capacities.
- □ Specify target mental health conditions and populations, and expected outcomes.
- □ Choose evidence-based psychological interventions.
- Decide setting for delivery, ideally within an existing community-based service.
- □ Organize the system for delivery, e.g. collaborative or stepped care.
- □ Identify and coordinate all associated services and referral options for care across sectors.
- Identify human resource needs and specify groups of workers to deliver, train and supervise psychological interventions in practice.
- Choose format for delivery, e.g. individual, group or self-help, delivered in person or remotely.
- Establish a budget and secure resources for all implementation activities.

Adapt the intervention materials

- □ Set parameters of adaptation.
- □ Review the literature.
- □ Do a rapid qualitative assessment.
- □ Translate the intervention and do an expert read-through.
- □ Review materials with stakeholders.
- □ Agree on adaptations.
- □ Re-evaluate, test in training and pilot the adapted intervention.

Prepare the workforce

- □ Specify criteria and process for selecting providers, supervisors and trainers.
- □ Appoint providers, supervisors and trainers.
- Choose a model for training providers (and if needs be supervisors), e.g. training of trainers.
- Define how the training will be structured and how the impact of training will be measured.
- □ Train the workforce using a competency-based approach.
- □ Clarify supervisors and providers' roles and responsibilities for supportive supervision.
- Define the structure, frequency and format of supervision sessions.
- □ Prepare tools and materials for supportive supervision, e.g. supervision forms.
- Secure human resources to give providers administrative and other additional support.

Deploy the intervention

- □ Specify roles and responsibilities for case detection and assessment.
- □ Select screening and assessment measures to use when identifying potential beneficiaries.
- Develop tools to refer people to the right source of support, e.g. referral protocols and contact lists.
- Establish a protocol for follow up after drop out or when treatment ends.

Monitor and evaluate

- □ Make an M&E plan.
- □ Identify output, outcome and goal impact indicators and measures.
- □ Collect and analyse data.
- □ Produce an M&E report with recommendations for improvement.
- □ Integrate findings using a collaborative process.

Annex 2. Points to consider for remote delivery

This annex outlines important points to consider when delivering interventions remotely. Remote delivery can be done using many technologies, including the telephone, as well as smartphones, computers, videoconferencing, online messaging and similar.

For more information on delivering interventions remotely, see:

- EQUIP: Providing remote psychological care (https://equipcompetency.org/en-gb).
- Guidelines for remote MHPSS programming in humanitarian settings (https://internationalmedicalcorps.org/ remotemhpssguidelines/).
- Consolidated telemedicine implementation guide (https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/9789240059184).

Points to consider for remote delivery

Suitability. Before choosing remote delivery, consider whether it is suitable for the target population. Key questions include:

- Is the target population willing and able to access interventions remotely?
- Do service users have access to a quiet and private space (or can such a space be created for them)?
- Do service users have, and know how to use, any hardware (telephone, smartphone) and software (messaging or video platform) they need to access interventions remotely (and

if not, can they be provided with technical support)?

- Do they share the device, and if so, can they use it privately and confidentially?
- Are telecommunications available and reliable in the area?
- How will the safety of people in high-risk situations (e.g. imminent risk of suicide) be managed remotely?
- What other barriers might hinder people from receiving remote psychological interventions (and how can these be overcome)?

Technology. When deciding which device and/ or software to use, consider the likely needs and resources available for technological support. Many interventions can be delivered over a simple mobile phone or smartphone. If delivering group interventions online, ensure the technology can support potentially relevant aspects of the group (e.g. small group discussions in breakout rooms), or adapt the intervention accordingly. Both providers and service users need access to reliable networks and devices (their own or shared) at no or minimal cost.

Intervention adaptation. If an intervention has been developed for in-person delivery, it will likely need adapting for remote delivery.⁷ This may include: running shorter, but more frequent, sessions than recommended in the original manual; adapting the format of group discussions; and ensuring supportive materials (e.g. pictures, discussion aids) are easily available in relevant formats.

⁷ For an overview of remote adaptation during COVID-19 see: McBride KA, Harrison S, Mahata S, Pfeffer K, Cardamone F, Ngigi T, et al. Building mental health and psychosocial support capacity during a pandemic: the process of adapting problem management plus for remote training and implementation during COVID-19 in New York City, Europe and East Africa. Intervention J. 2021;19(1):37–47. doi:10.4103/INTV.INTV_30_20.

Supportive space. Make the space where interventions will be delivered remotely as comfortable and supportive as possible. Try to minimize interruptions. For example, if you are working in a room where other people can walk in, lock the door or put a don't disturb sign on it. Try to minimize background noise and when using a video ensure the background is free from disruptions (eg. animals) and personal information you are uncomfortable with sharing.

Confidentiality and consent. Consider additional checks and balances to protect confidentiality and consent during remote sessions. For example, to confirm the identity of the person receiving treatment, ensure they are in a safe and private space, and are attending the session freely and of their own choice. No electronic device is 100% secure from hacking but measures can be taken to minimize the risk of confidential information being leaked. Some countries have legislation governing the use of communication software in health care. If psychological interventions will be delivered remotely, review local laws and best practices to ensure the plan for remote delivery meets relevant standards (for example on encryption). Because remote interventions are often delivered outside the office, take extra care when handling written information. Keep notes in a safe and locked place and use identifying numbers instead of names on documents.

Communication. One of the main challenges with delivering interventions remotely is the need to adapt communication styles and methods. Ensure clarity around communication, including in case of technology failure, to help manage expectations and ensure sessions run smoothly. Communication rules may also define if and how providers and service users can communicate in between sessions (e.g. through text messages, audio messages, email, or phone calls).

Risk management. Intervention providers can feel anxious when considering how to manage risk remotely. To support them in

this task, consider developing policies and protocols to manage risk remotely, including guidelines and/or training for how to:

- create a safety plan in the first remote session where required;
- establish where the person is during a session and if they are safe; and
- respond to emergency situations such as imminent risk of suicide (for example having contact information for referral services, such as emergency health services or an mhGAP trained clinic).

Self-care and professional boundaries. It

can be harder for providers to maintain good self-care and professional boundaries when delivering interventions remotely, especially if they are working from home. Setting ground rules around communication can help protect providers and service users. Example ground rules include: do not communicate via personal social media; keep separate work and personal devices; adhere to normal working hours and session schedules; and wear appropriate clothing.

Points to consider for remote training and supervision

Location. Remote supervision offers unique opportunities for less intrusive or distracting direct observation because a supervisor can join sessions unseen or unheard. For example, the supervisor can attend a session without their video or audio turned on. In such cases, inform the service user that the session will be monitored for supervision purposes (and get their consent). Take extra care to protect confidentiality when sharing and storing any recordings.

Communication. Remote training requires a slightly different communication style to face-to-face training. For example, in remote training sessions it is often necessary for trainers to speak more clearly and slowly than they normally would, and to tolerate longer pauses than usual because they are operating in a less natural environment. They may also need to establish a different mechanism for giving and receiving feedback.

Engagement. Remote trainees are more likely to get distracted. Extra effort may be needed to keep trainees motivated and involved. Keeping trainings small (e.g. 8–10 trainees) or having shorter sessions (e.g. half days) can help participants engage in remote activities. Learning methods that enable real-time interaction among group participants - e.g. through an online chat, live messaging system or collaborative online boards - can similarly help keep trainees actively engaged during training sessions. Setting ground rules for the training can also help avoid distractions, e.g. keeping cameras on, muting yourself when there is background noise, trying to avoid doing other things on laptop/smartphone, turning off notifications on your device.

Human resources. Ideally there should be two trainers. Because remote training can be affected by a wide range of IT issues, it's also important to plan for additional resources. A technical assistant can address issues with connectivity, answer technology-related questions and facilitate breakout rooms. Trainers should have a contingency plan in place in case technological faults and failures cannot be resolved.

Role-playing. As with face-to-face training and supervision, remote training should include role-playing. These should include role-playing common scenarios as well as crises, for example when there is imminent risk of harm.

"Screen fatigue". It is important to mitigate risk of screen fatigue. This can be done by including frequent breaks, alternating learning activities and focusing on practical exercises rather than didactic lectures. **Expectations.** In remote training it is essential to set clear expectations about time investment required and often time spent in virtual trainings are perceived as flexible.

Annex 3. Example adaptation monitoring form

This is an example of a monitoring form that can be used when adapting interventions. The actual content of the form will vary depending on the intervention and type of adaptation. This form can be adapted to include other aspects such as adaptations to the delivery model.

STAGE OF ADAPTATION	TEXT OR ILLUSTRATION CODE	PROBLEM WITH SOURCE CONTENT	PROPOSED CHANGE	JUSTIFICATION FOR CHANGING ORIGINAL CONTENT NOTES	CHANGE AGREED	DOCS UPDATED
 Literature review and qualitative assessment Translation and expert read-through Review with stakeholders Evaluation during provider training Pilot testing 				 Not accurate Not understandable Not acceptable Not relevant Other 	Vo No	Done
 Literature review and qualitative assessment Translation and expert read-through Review with stakeholders Evaluation during provider training Pilot testing 				 Not accurate Not understandable Not acceptable Not relevant Other 	□ Yes	Done
 Literature review and qualitative assessment Translation and expert read-through Review with stakeholders Evaluation during provider training Pilot testing 				 Not accurate Not understandable Not acceptable Not relevant Other 	Yes No	Done

Annex 4. Example supervision form

This is an example form that providers can fill out before, and after, each supervision session, to help guide discussions with their supervisor and ensure consistent feedback. In general, it is best not to include any information on this form that could be used to identify a participant (e.g. do not include participant names).

Date and time:
Supervisor:
Provider:
Number of completed sessions/contacts so far:
General note about presented symptoms and problems:
General note about person's progress:
What has gone well so far: <i>e.g. something you feel particularly confident about, progress reported by the person</i>
Questions or difficulties that you would like help with: e.g. a particular problem the person has, a technique/exercise or a practical issue
[To complete after supervision session] Discussion notes: Key points discussed within the supervision session and feedback from supervisor
Plan for next session/contact e.g. recommendations from supervisor on next steps

Annex 5. Example measures for screening and assessment

Source: IASC common monitoring and evaluation framework for mental health and psychosocial support in emergency settings with means of verification (version 2.0). Geneva: Inter-Agency Standing Committee; 2021 (https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/ iasc-reference-group-mental-health-and-psychosocial-support-emergency-settingsiasc-common-monitoring-and-evaluation-framework-mental-health-and-psychosocial-support-emergency, accessed 16 January 2023).

The following quantitative measures of distress/ symptoms are examples of measures that may be considered for screening and assessment. They are suggested for consideration by the Inter-Agency Standing Committee, which selected them based on their:

- accessibility (i.e. most of them are free to access and use);
- multi-site relevance (i.e. they have been used in a low-resource setting and in at least one other language other than the one they were created in);
- feasibility (i.e. they are quick to administer and there is guidance available for scoring and interpreting data); and
- appropriate measurement properties (i.e. they have been shown to be adequately reliable and valid in at least two settings).

EXAMPLE FINDING	EXAMPLE RECOMMENDATION		
6-11 years	Child Psychosocial Distress Screener (CPDS)		
	Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ)		
	Revised Child Anxiety and Depression Scale-25 (RCADS-25)		
12-17 years	Child Psychosocial Distress Screener (CPDS)		
	Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ)		
	Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT)		
	Revised Child Anxiety and Depression Scale-25 (RCADS-25)		
18 + years	Alcohol, Smoking and Substance Involvement Screening Test (ASSIST)		
	Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9)		
	Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD-7)		
	PTSD Checklist for the DSM-5 (PCL-5)		
	Psychological Outcome Profiles (PSYCHLOPS)		

Annex 6. Example suicide risk form for non-specialists

Source: Self-Help Plus (SH+). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://www. who.int/publications/i/item/9789240035119, accessed 12 January 2023) Providers should follow the procedures of their organization for assessing imminent risk of suicide. The example protocol – below written for non-specialists - can also be adapted by organizations for their own contexts.

Protocol for assessing imminent risk of suicide

Go through the questions with the person and record the answers immediately on the form below. If the person has already clearly provided enough information to answer a question below, you do not need to ask the question again.

Example script for introducing the risk assessment questions:

I'm glad that you're telling me about this. Sometimes when people are very upset or feel hopeless, they have thoughts about death or ending their own life. These thoughts are not uncommon, and you should not feel guilty or ashamed about having such thoughts if you do. I would like to ask you some more questions to better understand how things are for you. Is that okay? Can we continue?

Guidance for asking about suicide or self-harm

Ask direct, clear questions:

- When asking questions about suicide, avoid using less direct words that could be misunderstood.
- Direct questions help the person feel that they are not being judged for having thoughts or plans of suicide or for having made suicide attempts or self-harmed in the past.
- Some people may feel uncomfortable talking with you about suicide, but you can tell them that it is very important for you to clearly understand their level of safety.
- Asking questions about suicide will not cause the person to take action to end their life, but often helps them feel understood and less distressed.

1 In the past month, have you had					
serious thoughts of ending your life, or a plan to end your life? Or have you taken any actions to end your life in the past year?	lf yes, ask the pe actions taken. W		eir thoughts, plans or		
If the person answers "no" to Question the assessment. If the person answers "yes" to Question	-		estions and you can end		
2 Are you currently thinking of ending	□ YES	□ NO	UNSURE		
your life, do you have a plan of ending your life, or are you currently taking any steps to end your life? If "yes" or the person is "unsure", ask the person to describe their thoughts, plan, or actions to you. Write details here:					
 If the person answers "no" to Quest communicating, they may end their If the person answers "no" to Question communicating, they are unlikely to h required. You do not need to follow th discuss any additional support that m In case of any doubt about a person 	r life in the near futu n 2 and they are NOT ave a plan to end the e steps below, but tel ay be helpful.	re. Follow the step extremely agitated, v ir life in the near futu I the person you will	s below. violent, distressed or not ure. No immediate action is		
 Steps to immediately take if the perso You must always contact your super From what you have described to me, I that you are at risk of ending your life, the best kind of help for these problem 	rvisor immediately. am concerned about I must contact my sup	Explain this to the your safety. As I men ervisor. This is very ir	tioned before, if I believe mportant, so we can get you		
• Stay with the person at all times, or	have another facilitat	or stay with the pers	son.		
• Contact someone the person trusts. For your community to ensure that you car	n be kept safe. Who wo	ould that be?			
Create a secure and supportive enviro or trusted person to arrive.					
• Ask the person if they have access to a their home environment.	any means of self-harr	n. Discuss ways to re	emove these items from		
Attend to the person's mental state an					
• Explore reasons and ways to stay alive					
 Focus on the person's strengths by enc 	ouraging them to talk	and a state for a state of the state.	امميرا ممصع مممم منيمط مصمما بامم		

Department of Mental Health and Substance Use World Health Organization 20 Avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland https://www.who.int/health-topics/mental-health

